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IW// CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

EFEHE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wecon Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to
present to our shareholders (the “Shareholders”) the annual
report of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The total revenue of our Group increased by approximately
HK$223.4 million or approximately 22.8% from approximately
HK$980.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$1,204.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. For the year ended 31 March 2020, the net profit
attributable to the equity holders was approximately HK$50.5
million which increased by approximately HK$13.3 million as
compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2019. After
excluding the listing expenses of approximately HK$ 13.1 million
incurred in the year ended 31 March 2019 and nil incurred in
the year ended 31 March 2020, the adjusted net profit for year
ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$50.5 million as
compared to approximately HK$50.3 million for the year ended
31 March 2019, representing a slight increase of approximately
0.4%.

PROSPECTS

Despite the political and economic uncertainties during recent
times, | am pleased to report that we have recorded growth in
both revenue and net profit of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020. Our revenue this year was approximately
HK1,204.0 million, an increase of approximately 22.8% from that
of last year. After excluding the listing expenses, the Group
adjusted net profit was approximately HK50.5 million, compared
to approximately HK50.3 million last year, reflecting a slight
increase of approximately 0.4%.
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Hong Kong entered its first recession in the recent decade as
a result of political tensions and the emergence of COVID-19
pandemic, we expect this to have a trickle-down effect on our
business in the coming year in the form of competitive pricing
and thus lower margins. Fortunately for us, construction sites
of our projects have remained open and works remained in
progress as before. In order to counter the anticipated concerns
over pricing, we must place extra focus on maintaining our
reputation, ensure that projects are completed on time with the
highest quality, alongside implementing various cost-effective
measures.

In the past year we have continued to invest in our BIM (Building
Information Modeling) division. We see this as a service that
differentiates us from our competitors, through providing
creative technical solutions to our clients. As the world economy
enters a period of profound transformation, we must look to
evolve through every avenue. Going forward we plan to invest
in building related services that will enhance our capabilities
and provide synergies to the business, though our core values
will always remain the same.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors and suppliers
for their continuous confidence and support. | would also like
to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to our
management and staff members for their hard work and loyalty
to the Group.

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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THEMRR S

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long-established main contractor in Hong
Kong and principally engaged in the provision of (i) building
construction services and (ii) repair, maintenance, alteration and
addition (“RMAA") works services. The Group provides building
construction services to customers in both the private and
public sectors. The building construction services provided by
the Group primarily consist of building works for new buildings,
including residential, commercial and industrial buildings, while
the Group’s RMAA works services include the general upkeep,
maintenance, improvement, refurbishment, alteration and
addition of existing facilities and components of buildings and
their surroundings.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 11 major projects on hand
and each with an awarded contract sum of HK$10.0 million
above, which includes projects in progress and projects that
are yet to commence. In addition, there was 1 new major
project with an awarded contract sum of HK$10.0 million above
subsequent to 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had
completed 2 major projects which carried an awarded contract
sum of HK$10.0 million above.

PROSPECTS

The shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") on 27 February 2019
(the "Listing"). The Directors believe that the Listing would
enhance the Group's profile and bring a positive effect on the
Group's business opportunities in the market. Moreover, the
net proceeds from the share offer (the “Net Proceeds”) would
provide the Group with the capital necessary for carrying out
its long term development plan and support the growth of the
Group.
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The Group was successfully awarded 2 building construction
contracts with an aggregate contract sums of approximately
HK$786.0 million in March and April 2020. Nevertheless, the
Directors still believe that the Group is facing keen competition
in the building construction and RMAA market in Hong Kong.
The conservative approach to the certification and approval for
works valuation by the customers and the continuous increase
in direct costs will inevitably increase the overall operational
risks of the Group. The management is handling these risks with

care.

The outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic at the beginning of the
year has created pressure in the operating environment and
has posed challenges to various industries in Hong Kong. The
Group would closely monitor the pandemic as well as assess the
overall impact on our business in both building construction and
RMAA. Amid the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group
continuously progressed our construction work with only minor
disruption.

Looking forward, as supported by the policy implemented by
the Government of Hong Kong in infrastructure development
and increase in housing supply, the Directors still remain
prudently optimistic about the prospects of the building
construction and RMAA industry in Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are certain risks relating to the Group's operations which
could harm the Group’s business, financial condition and
operating results. Some of the relatively material risks relating
to the Group are summarised as follows:

(i) the Group’s revenue relies on the Group’s contracts being
awarded through tendering or quotation processes which
are not recurrent in nature. There is no guarantee on the
Group's continual success in project tenders or quotation
and the Group's sustainability and financial performance
may be materially and adversely affected;

(i) the Group is exposed to concentration risk of heavy
reliance on the Group's largest and major customers;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWmR DN

(iii) the Group relies on the Group's subcontractors to perform
generally most of the works of the Group’s projects;
any fluctuations in subcontracting costs, unsatisfactory
performance or unavailability of the Group's subcontractors
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s operations
and profitability;

(iv) the Group may suffer from cash flow shortcomings due to
mismatch in time between receipt of progress payments
from our customers, and payments to our suppliers and
subcontractors;

(v) changes in the prices and availability of raw materials
may materially and adversely affect the Group’s operating
results; and

(vi) the Group provides performance bonds in the course of the
Group's business operations which could affect the Group's
liquidity position.

For detailed discussion of the risk factors, please refer to
the section headed “Risk Factors” in the prospectus of the

Company dated 30 January 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's reportable and operating segments are (i) building
construction services and (i) RMAA works services. Details of
the segmental information of the Group is disclosed in Note 5
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$223.4 million or approximately 22.8% from approximately
HK$980.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$1,204.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2020.
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Building Construction Services

The revenue generated from the building construction services
increased by approximately HK$180.4 million or approximately
22.9% from approximately HK$787.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2019 to approximately HK$968.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020, which was mainly due to the achievement
of significant progress and practical completion for the major
projects on hand during the year ended 31 March 2020.

RMAA Works Services

The revenue generated from the RMAA works services increased
by approximately HK$43.0 million or approximately 22.3% from
approximately HK$193.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$236.0 million for the year ended 31
March 2020, which was mainly due to the increase in revenue
generated from a sizable project during the year ended 31
March 2020.

Cost of Sales

The cost of sales of the Group increased by approximately
HK$209.3 million or approximately 23.5% from approximately
HK$890.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$1,099.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2020. Such increase was mainly driven by the corresponding
increase in revenue. The Group’s cost of sales primarily
consisted of subcontracting costs, material costs, direct staff
costs and site overhead. During the year, the increase in
subcontracting costs and direct staff costs which was partially
offset by the decrease in material costs and site overhead.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit of the Group increased from approximately
HK$90.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
approximately HK$104.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2020. The Group's gross profit margin was approximately
9.2% and 8.7% for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020,
respectively. The gross profit margin of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 decreased by approximately 0.5% by
comparing that for the year ended 31 March 2019.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWmR DN
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWmR DN

Building Construction Services

The gross profit of building construction services was
approximately HK$76.0 million for the year ended 31 March
2020, representing an increase of approximately HK$8.1 million
from approximately HK$67.9 million for the year ended 31 March
2019. The gross profit margin decreased from approximately
8.6% for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately 7.8%
for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such decrease was primarily
attributable to (i) the completion of one sizable project, which
has a relatively higher gross profit margin and (ii) another
sizable project, which has a relatively lower gross profit margin,
achieving significant progress during the year ended 31 March
2020.

RMAA Works Services

The gross profit of RMAA works services was approximately
HK$28.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing
an increase of approximately HK$6.0 million from approximately
HK$22.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. The gross
profit margin slightly increased from approximately 11.7% for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately 12.1% for the
year ended 31 March 2020, which was mainly attributable to the
decrease of site overhead cost of one sizable project during the
year.

Other Income and Gains

The other income and gains of the Group increased by
approximately HK$2.6 million, from approximately HK$4.1
million for year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$6.7
million for year ended 31 March 2020. The increase was primarily
due to the increase of bank interest income attributable to the
Listing proceeds.
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Administrative Expenses and Other Operating Expenses

The administrative expenses and other operating expenses
increased by approximately HK$3.2 million, or representing
approximately 6.8%, from approximately HK$47.4 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$50.6 million for
year ended 31 March 2020. Such increase was mainly due to the
increase in (i) professional fees and other operating expenses
subsequent to the Listing; (i) staff costs; (iii) depreciation cost;
(iv) workmen compensation expenses and (v) the impairment on
contract assets and trade receivables, which is partially offset
by the fact that no listing expenses were incurred for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

Finance Costs

The finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.2 million,
from approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to approximately HK$0.4 million for the year ended 31
March 2020. Such decrease was mainly due to the decrease in
the interest expense on bank borrowings.

Income Tax Expenses

The income tax expenses increased by approximately HK$0.5
million or approximately 5.3%, from approximately HK$9.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
HK$9.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The increase
was primarily attributable to an increase in profit generated
from building construction services and RMAA works services
which was offset by the one-off non-deductible tax item of
listing expenses incurred for the year ended 31 March 2019.
The effective tax rate was approximately 20.2% and 16.3% for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, respectively. The
decrease of the effective tax rate of approximately 3.9% was
mainly due to the one-off non-deductible tax item of listing
expenses incurred for the year ended 31 March 2019.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWmR DN

Net Profit and Adjusted Net Profit

As a result of the foregoing, the net profit for the year of
our Group increased by approximately HK$13.3 million, or
approximately 35.8%, from approximately HK$37.2 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately HK$50.5 million
for the year ended 31 March 2020. After excluding the listing
expenses of approximately HK$13.1 million and nil for the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020, respectively, the Group
adjusted net profit was approximately HK$50.3 million and
approximately HK$50.5 million for the years ended 31 March
2019 and 2020, respectively, representing slightly increase
of approximately HK$0.2 million or approximately 0.4%. The
adjusted net profit margin (excluding the listing expenses) for
the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2020 were approximately
5.1% and 4.2%, respectively, representing a decrease of
approximately 0.9% in the year ended 31 March 2020. Such
decrease was primarily attributable to the decline in gross profit
margin during the year ended 31 March 2020.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2020, our Group has a total of 194 full-time
employees and 2 part-time employees (2019: 181 full- time
employees and no part-time employee). The Group has
developed its human resources policies and procedures to
determine the individual remuneration with reference to factors
such as performance, merits, responsibilities of each individual,
market conditions, etc. Remuneration packages are normally
reviewed on a regular basis. Apart from salary payments, other
staff benefits including provident fund contributions, medical
insurance coverage, annual leave, options which may be granted
under the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
adopted by the Company on 21 January 2019. The total staff
costs (excluding directors’ remuneration) incurred by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately
HK$89.8 million (2019: approximately HK$76.1 million).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there were no significant
investments held, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and associated companies by the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Save as disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitments as at 31 March 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2020.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has a minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as
most of its business transactions and assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollar. As such, the
Directors believe that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange
is insignificant so the Group is not necessary to arrange any
foreign currency hedging policy currently.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group, which
is calculated by dividing total of bank borrowings and lease
liabilities (2019: finance lease payables) with the total equity of
the Group, was approximately 2.6% (2019: 4.6%).

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group has principally funded the liquidity and capital
requirements through capital contributions from the
shareholders, bank borrowings and net cash generated from
operating activities.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had pledged deposits,
time deposits and cash and bank balances of approximately
HK$172.6 million (2019: approximately HK$194.8 million). The
gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2020 (defined as the
total of bank borrowings and lease liabilities (2019: finance lease
payables) divided by total equity) was approximately 2.6% (2019:
4.6%). As at 31 March 2020, the current ratio of the Group was
approximately 1.9 times (2019: approximately 1.9 times).

The Group generally finances its operation by internally
generated resources and banking facilities provided by certain
banks in Hong Kong. Our Directors believe that the Group have
sufficient working capital for our current commitments and our
future requirements.

The Shares were successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2019. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there
has been no change in the capital structure of the Group.

DEBTS AND CHARGE ON ASSETS

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group,
including a bank borrowing and lease liabilities (2019: finance
lease payables) amounted to approximately HK$7.1 million as
at 31 March 2020 (2019: approximately HK$11.1 million). As at
31 March 2020, the banking facilities of the Group were secured
by (i) the Group's pledged bank deposits; and (ii) corporate
guarantee executed by the Group.

Borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
interests on borrowings were mainly charged at floating rate.
The Group currently does not have any interest rate hedging
policy while the Group pays vigilant attention to and monitors
interest rate risks continuously and cautiously.

14 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

RBEERVRERRERGR

AEBTIZRBERLE  RITERLLE
RBAFRSFEARPDECRERENRER

HES -

202093 A31H « AEBEFFR - TH
GFHRARR e RRITEHRDN172.6BBE T
(20194 : #9194.885 & B L) ° 1202043
A318 - AEEEABEBELER(ER AIIRIT
EREAEAG(019F  ENREHER
BB A B ) 892.6% (20194 -
4.6%) > FA2020%F3A31H * REB R E L
RH)1.915 (20194 « #91.963) -

AEE—RANSEL SRRETEER
TR RITEEARSBRNES - B
RALEEATHLEEES U IABAR
RAEBR -

A 201942 A27 B K A B 32 B 7 o
HZE2020F3A31HIEFE - REBBEARL
T E o

BEREREERN

20203 A31H » AEBEFTERITEKE
o BIERITERNMEEBE(2019F | &
NRERERIE)N718 BB (20194 ¢
HNMABEBAETT) » B2020F3A318 » K&
ERITRVE () A S BEEIFRITER ¢ i)
NEBHITH R RIERIER -

ERABTTAHE - BB EEZRF B X
FHE o AKE B BRI R LR
A S B RE R EE BT RERAX
[\ o



USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares were successfully listed on the Stock Exchange
on 27 February 2019 (the “Listing Date"”). The Net Proceeds,
after deducting related underwriting commission and listing
expenses, of approximately HK$93.5 million were and will be

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEWmR DN

FRERERR

utilised in accordance with the section headed of “Future Plans

and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

BD 2019628278 ([ Lo B ) RBE RS
FTAKIh B - MR FER e Eme k ETmRAX
B AT 1S IR EE4)93.58 B8 T IR R B A%
ERR[RRFBIRAEREAR | —8BA -

The Net Proceeds from the Listing Date to 31 March 2020 were B =T B 8iZE2020F3 H31 H A5 5/ B F 58
utilised as follows: JEFRWNT :
Planned use Actual use Remaining
of proceeds  of proceeds balance
Planned from the from the of use of
use of Listing Date Listing Date  proceeds as
proceeds  to 31 March  to 31 March  at 31 March
in total 2020 2020 2020
HEHAME MEITAME R2020%F
Fr85E 2020%F3A31H 202063A31H 3A31HK
TERE Fris 8 P8R8 FrigsE
mE FrEAR BERAR FIeRE R
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million
BB BB BE#En BE#ET
Strengthen the capacity in undertaking IREFIREBAERELZETF
more building construction and BIEA LR B REETEE
RMAA works projects in Hong Kong H#ge 66.7 56.3 47.9 18.8
Strengthen the manpower RA S 14.4 5.0 2.9 1.5
Upgrade and renovation of office WREFBRE 36 1.7 1.7 1.9
Develop engineering and T8 BT T2 BT
technological innovation 2.9 2.9 2.5 0.4
General working capital —REEES 5.9 5.9 5.9 -
93.5 71.8 60.9 32.6
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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From the Listing Date to 31 March 2020, the Group has not yet
utilised the proceeds allocated during the year ended 31 March
2020 for (i) strengthening the capacity in undertaking more
works projects, (ii) strengthening manpower and (iii) developing
engineering and technological innovation as planned. The delay
in utilisation of the proceeds in the abovementioned areas were
due to (i) the commencement of a new project in April 2020,
which was later than the planned schedule, (ii) the difficulty in
recruiting of suitable candidates for the positions which were
created as planned and (iii) the delay in development of the
Group's technological innovation. The Group plans to utilise the
unutilised portion allocated for the year ended 31 March 2020
during the coming year ending 31 March 2021.

The Group will continue to apply the Net Proceeds in
accordance to the disclosure in the section headed "Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds" in the Prospectus as soon as
practicable.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance are set out in
the "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”,
which will be published on the Stock Exchange’s website
at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company’'s website at
“"www.wecon.com.hk” according to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules”).
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JW// CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining
the highest standard of corporate governance as the Board
recognises the importance of sound corporate governance
to the long term and continuing success of the Group. The
corporate governance principles of the Group emphasise
transparency, accountability and independence. The Board
commits to continuously review and enhance the Group's
corporate governance practices and procedures for the best
interest of the Company'’s shareholders.

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020.

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to this report,
the Company has complied with the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”)
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except the deviation
mentioned in the below section of “Chairman and Chief
Executive”.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman (the
“Chairman”) and chief executive officer (the "CEQ") should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
Since the Listing Date up to the date of this report, Mr. Tsang
Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”) is the Chairman of the Board and
the CEO of the Company. As the nature and extent of our
Group's operations and Mr. KY Tsang’s in-depth knowledge
and experience in the industry in which we operate and his
familiarity with the operations of our Group, the Board believes
that it is most beneficial to the Group and the shareholders as
a whole to have Mr. KY Tsang acting as the Chairman of the
Board and CEO of the Company as the same time.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. The
Company has made specific enquiries to each of the Director
and all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2020 in response to the specific
enquiry by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets
and supervision of management performance.

Composition

The Board comprises a total of six directors, with three
executive Directors (the "EDs”) and three independent non-
executive Directors (the “INEDs"”). Board members are listed
below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip

Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel

Dr. Lau Chi Keung

Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond

18 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

ESETRSRINEETA

RN RS R _E AR R ER10PTE R £ TH
BITABRETERRZNERETA([HE
S MMEREFETEZFRZNITRT
A - ARRIEASESFHIEER - MAT
BEFEHRARAMEHZ B EEAERANSE
RELZE2020F3 A3 B IEFEHFEE T2 B
STARZEEST RIPTEL 2 RE R o

Exg

EEeNIZRERENEAEEMNERK
B FIEEERAGELREBEERR -

EZeAh A REF(BRR=22RTES
(TTES ) =B TES(( B
FHITES|))AEK - EFSHEHINWT

HITEE
MRS (R RITRAH)
WS
WA

BAFHTES
st
RN ST A



In compliance with the requirements set out in Rule 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules, the Board consists of three INEDs during
the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise one-third
of the Board, and one of them, namely Mr. Sze Kwok Wing
Nigel, possesses of appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. During
the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this report,
the number of INEDs represents at least one-third of the Board
which is in compliance with Rule 3.10A. As such, the Company
believes that there is a sufficient independence element in the
Board to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.

The Company has entered into a letter of appointment with
each of the INEDs. The commencement date of each of the
letter of appointment is 27 February 2019, the date of the
Listing, for a term of three years. Each of the INEDs has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs
meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and are independent in accordance with the terms
of the guidelines.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting and
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every 3 years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. As such, Mr. Tsang Ka Yip as an executive Director
and Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel as an independent non-executive
Director, will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Saved as disclosed in the section “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in this report, there is
no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship among members of the Board and senior
management.
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Meetings and Attendance

The attendance of individual members of the Board at various
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2020, as well as the
number of such meetings held, are set our below:

ERRHESR

REE2020F3831HILFE - EFeKE
HESEZNEHETAEEINOT ¢

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITERNRE

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
= EREEEY REEZES FMEES
a3 83 83 =
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip @ BRELLED 4/4  N/A TERAE 2/2 11
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip ke St 4/4 N/A g F N/A i N/A i F
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry LR S 4/4 N/A AN N/A N E N/A TE
Independent Non-Executive NEHTES
Directors
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel @ MEBIER S 4@ 4/4 4/4 2/2 1/1
Dr. Lau Chi Keung @ fEeafE 4o 4/4 4/4 2/2 N/A & B
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond @ BRFIR I HE® 4/4 4/4 N/A N3 B 1/1
1. Chairman of the Board 1. EBERgIF
2. Chairman of the Audit Committee 2. BFREERLE
3. Chairman of the Nomination Committee 3. REZESEE
4. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 4. FHEEEER
Board Meetings EEgEed
In compliance with the code provision A.2.7 of the CG code, the RIRPEE A <FAIH)FBIEXEA 271K
Chairman of the Board should at least annually hold meetings EFEFFREELGFEIENTESR(LRE
with the non-executive Directors (including INEDs) without the BN IFHITES )BT - REMEFETES

presence of the other Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the INEDs had meeting
with the Chairman of the Board without the presence of
In addition, the INEDs could also
communicate directly at any time through other means (such as

other executive Directors.

telephone or email) to give their opinions and share their views
on the Company's affairs.
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Directors’ Training and Professional Development

In compliance with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all Directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skill
to ensure that they obtain the updated and relevant information
regarding to the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Company arranged a training session provided by our Hong
Kong legal adviser to all the Directors as continuing professional
trainings. The training covered topics including the updates on
the Listing Rules and connected transactions.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) pursuant to requirement of the CG Code. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

In designing the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a wide range of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience
and qualifications, skills, knowledge and length of service,
and any other factors that the Board may consider relevant
and applicable from time to time. High emphasis is placed on
ensuring a balanced composition of skills and experience at the
Board level in order to provide a range of perspectives, insights
and challenge that enable the Board to discharge its duties
and responsibilities effectively, support good decision making
in view of the core businesses and strategy of the Group, and
support succession planning and development of the Board. For
achieving an optimal Board, additional measurable objectives
and specific diversity targets may be set and reviewed from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERERE

ESNEIIRERRE

BIFEEE AT F AR EAL5
TREFHDUEBEFIERR  EREKEN
MBRFRE - LIBERESESERE TR
R H A EAEE RN S RABEER - B
Z2020F3H31BIEFE - AR A LHEH B
EARBER R BERIRMEIENIRIZERRTFE
BEEI - BIIRNEBRIELTREREER
DZEIER o

EEESILEE

EEEERBEXEATANMERMNES
EXRBEZTEBR(EEEREZ TR
F]) - ARFRHAALREEETEXNEZ T
HRARRNKBAERERRS

REYAHERIENER - NARRET
EEEEAMNZLIEAXBREENBEBR
REAFERROBRITE -

REAEFG 2AKE EFSKEZ T
BERtZHTEZE  BRETRRER - F
CXIEBESERBEER Bk EELR
KBRS B - MBRRBER - ARES
SR ETKRAMEE N ERZ T EME
= MREFEARERERNFEHLSER
SR8 NIRE—RIIEE  RENER (£
EXERHANBETERE XBAKEZL
X RREORIPRR NEF G RIS
KER - REBUEBNEES  AEEXE
R HIE R BIN T ER BRI ESZ T
LB - AEEREREE -

BIZRBRAT  FH2019/2020 21



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRSE

Selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s
nomination policy and will take into account this policy. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board, having
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board and also
the needs of the Board without focusing on a single diversity
aspect.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. The Board would ensure that appropriate
balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference
to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local
recommended best practices, with the ultimate goal of bringing
the Board to gender parity. The Board also aspires to having an
appropriate proportion of directors who have direct experience
in the Group's core markets, with different ethnic backgrounds,
and reflecting the Group's strategy.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established a number of functional committees
in compliance with the relevant Listing Rules for assisting the
Board to oversee specific aspects of the Company's affairs and
helping it in the execution of its responsibilities. Specific written
terms of reference of these committees clearly outline the
committees’ authority and duties, which require the committees
to report back on their decisions and recommendations to the
Board. Currently, three committees have been established,
i.e. the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”).
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 21
January 2019 with specific written terms of reference which
clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining
the relationship with the Company’s auditor; (b) reviewing
the Company’s financial information; (c) overseeing the
Company's financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems; and (d) overseeing the Company’s
continuing connected transactions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock
Exchange's website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's
website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Audit Committee is made up of three INEDs including Mr.
Sze Kwok Wing Nigel (Chairman), Dr. Lau Chi Keung and Mr.
Chan Tim Yiu Raymond.

The Audit Committee held four committee meetings during the
year ended 31 March 2020.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Audit Committee
had, among others, performed the following work:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

24

held two meetings with an external auditor to discuss and
review the annual results, the annual financial report for
the year ended 31 March 2019 and the interim results,
the interim financial report for the six months ended 30
September 2019 and recommended the same to the Board
for approval,

held a meeting with an external independent internal
control adviser to discuss and review the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, and the
effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function;

held a telephone conference call with an external auditor
to discuss the pre-audit planning and the statutory audit
scope of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020; and

made recommendations to the Board on the appointment

of external auditor and give recommendations on its
remuneration.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on
21 January 2019 with specific written terms of reference which
clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for (a)
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement of the Company’s corporate strategy;
(b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and selecting or making recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated of directorships;
(c) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for
Directors in particular the Chairman of the Board and the CEO;
and (d) assessing the independence of the INEDs and reviewing
the INEDs' annual confirmations on their independence and
making the disclosure of its review results in the corporate
governance report. The full version of the terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee is available on the Stock Exchange's
“www.hkexnews.hk”

website at and the Company’s website at

www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Nomination Committee is made up of three members
including Dr. Lau Chi Keung (Chairman), Mr. Sze Kwok Wing
Nigel and Mr. Tsang Ka Yip.

The Nomination Committee held two committee meetings
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to review and consider the
composition and diversity of the Board, appointment and
re-appointment of the Directors, annual independence of
INEDs, assessed the INEDs' independence according to the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
review the succession planning for Directors and the existing
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERERE

BEREES
RATR2019FE1 A1 BT IEZEE S -
HERERB T AZEE AR B E R AR

HEER

REZEENIZEBREREQELEBFERS
BEEEMNEB - ABKAX(BEREE -
MBRER)  UhERABEEARAQF D

E 55 Ekﬁﬁﬁﬂ§$’é\f’552§%§ﬂﬁ§$@
REEZ OVEEEGEERAIERE
EeNEMHEA AL - WEEFEFALTIR
FHETESAHBERNESSHELERS
BE ONZRERREREESLES(EH
%%iéiﬁ&ﬁﬂwﬁﬂwﬁﬁﬁgﬁ
EEEFEHEBRSE 0 KT ZBE LI
TEEMBLM  UYEHBIIENTES
REBIHIELENFTERER  IREEE
AMERBEEERHER - IERZE SRR
#[E] 2 2 3R] REE A AT A uhwww. hkexnews.hk
T AN B www.wecon.com. hk & F e

ﬁk% B - BREIERE

NEBRERLE o

RELZE® J‘ﬁ%%%ézozoﬁﬂ BNALEFER
TTMAZEEEE  URAIKERESS
ZHRRZT  EARETEATES - B
MIEMTEENFEE B - BB TR
%313%%%%5%4% EBIEMITES

M EMERZEIHEIRIERES

@Ziﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ °

BIZRBRAT  FH2019/2020 25



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

Nomination criteria

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for the directorship,

the following criteria should be considered by the Nomination

Committee:

(i)

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

26

the candidate’s character and integrity;

the candidate’s qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and
diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy;

any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

for independent non-executive Directors, whether the
candidate would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

willingness and ability of the candidate to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or
Board committee(s) of the Company; and

such other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable may be adopted and/or amended by the Board
and/or the Nomination Committee from time to time for
nomination of directors and succession planning.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

REERA

TG R PGE TR E AT EEE

g

ZEQREBIATRE

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

UREINERL A

RIEANER BREXER Kk
MM &S ARESFEXBZ TR
RATHR AR B 5 MR ESARRE A 2
TUERIE 5

EE g RERSTTEMEMNEA AT

ERE:

B IFMITEEMS - RIELHARR
P2 B 1EHES]  (REARD SRR
RN

REAMBLERE ~ 88~ &g~ WU
LMRZ T RESSIERNEERE
'R
RENTEREE KRB RERIINE S
RMETHREFENENR HEFEE
SLZENBE &

AR AN R R M AR 8 N (15
FIFREERE N HREEZEET
RERM KSR RT AR E FIR B R (T
ARz M ERE -



Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following director nomination

procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

(i)

(ii)

If the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for
identifying suitable director candidates, including referral
from Directors, shareholders, management, advisors of the
Company and external executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the relevant Nomination Committee will
shortlist candidates for consideration by the Nomination
Committee/Board based on the selection criteria and such
other factors that it considers appropriate. The Board
has the final authority on determining suitable director
candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i

(ii)

Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if consider
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for
re-election at a general meeting. A circular containing the
requisite information on such retiring Director will be sent
to shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Any shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate
a person to stand for election as a Director at a general
meeting must lodge with the company secretary of the
Company within the lodgement period specified in the
relevant shareholder circular (a) a written nomination of the
candidate, (b) written confirmation from such nominated
candidate of his willingness to stand for election, and
(c) biographical details of such nominated candidate
as required under the Listing Rules. Particulars of the
candidate so proposed will be sent to all shareholders for
information by a supplementary circular.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
on 21 January 2019 with specific written terms of reference
which clearly deals with its authority and duties.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (a)
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors, the senior management
of the Group and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;
(b) determining, making recommendations to the Board,
considering and approving the remuneration package of
individual executive Directors and senior management and the
compensation arrangements relating to loss or termination of
office or appointment; and (c) reviewing and approving the
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives. The full version of the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available
on the Stock Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the
Company's website at “www.wecon.com.hk”. The Remuneration
Committee ensures that none of the Directors or any of his
associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee is made up of three members
including Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond (Chairman), Mr. Tsang Ka
Yip and Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel.

The Remuneration Committee held one committee meeting
for the year ended 31 March 2020 to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and member of the senior
management, as well as the remuneration of the INEDs.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration in the Group and the five

highest paid individuals are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Senior management’s remuneration

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration paid to the members of the senior management
by band during the year ended 31 March 2020 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)
FENEE (B T)
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EREEENTM
RIECEEATAASTBEXEB.1.505
REZE2020F3A83NBIEEE  SNFEHR
EREBIRBEZDHNFMOT

Number of person(s)

A

Nil to 1,000,000
1,000,001 to 1,500,000

Z 21,000,000
1,000,001 21,500,000

5
1

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid or payable
to the external auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, in
respect of the audit and non-audit services were as follows:

18 3 1% B0 B 5 B

RBEHA - B ISFBREE (-
F AR RSN ERED % K & R S TS P A
HE T

Remuneration

Services rendered paid/payable
R AR BB HMH
HK$’'000
FHET
Audit services Fit R

— Annual audit services —FEE RS 1,200

Non-audit services B AR
— Others —H 210
1,410
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has on 21 January 2019 adopted a divided policy

(the “Dividend Policy”), and the summary of which is set out

below:

(i

(i)

(iii)

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into

account, inter aliai—

(a) the general financial condition of the Group;

capital and debt level of the Group;

(c) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development
needs;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group's lenders;

(e) the general market conditions; and

(f) any other factors that the Board considers appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of the
Company. Any final dividends declared by the Company
must be approved by an ordinary resolution of the
shareholders at an annual general meeting and must not
exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board
may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
and/or special dividends, in cash or in kind, as it considers
to be justified by the profits of the Group.

The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the
shareholders’ interests and prudent capital management
with a sustainable Dividend Policy. The Board will review
the Dividend Policy from time to time and may exercise at
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.

Details of dividends are disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

All Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements affairs of the Group.

The statement of the auditor, Ernst & Young, about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 70 to 78 of
this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to any events
or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the Board by ensuring the
Board policy and procedures are followed. The company
secretary is also responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters.

The company secretary of the Company (the "Company
Secretary”), Ms. Tsang Lee Mei (“Ms. Tsang"”), who is also the
financial controller of the Company, is a full-time employee of
the Company. During the year ended 31 March 2020, Ms. Tsang
has confirmed that she has complied with training requirements
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Her biography is set out
on page 45 of this annual report in the section of “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management”.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

1M

@

32

General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a good
opportunity for communication between the shareholders
of the Company and the Board. An annual general meeting
of the Company shall be held in each year and at such time
and place to be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be
called an extraordinary general meeting.

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
is scheduled to be held on Friday, 21 August 2020 (the
“2020 AGM"). A circular and a notice of the 2020 AGM
containing, among other matters, further information and
notice relating to the 2020 AGM will be despatched to
the shareholders of the Company in accordance with the
Articles, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and
regulations.

The way in which Shareholders can convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may
whenever it thinks fit to call an EGM. Any one or more
shareholders holding on the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after
the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible
for election as a Director at any general meeting unless
a notice signed by a shareholder (other than the person
to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed
by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be
elected shall have been lodged at the head office or at the
registration office provided that the minimum length of the
period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at
least seven (7) days and that (if the notices are submitted
after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election) the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior
to the date of such general meeting.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Any shareholder(s) of the Company who wish to raise his/
her/their enquiries concerning the Company to the Board
may deliver his/her/their written enquiry(ies) to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 18/F,,
Tung Hip Commercial Building, 244 — 252 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong for the attention of the Chairman of
the Board and the Company Secretary. Upon receipt of the
enquiries, the Company would reply as soon as possible.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders communication policy
with the objective of ensuring timely, transparent and accurate
communications between the shareholders and the Company.

The Company has established several ways to communicate
with the shareholders as follows:

(1) the annual general meetings and other general meetings
of the Company are the primary communication forum
between the Company and the shareholders. The Board
members, appropriate senior executives and external
auditor will attend the general meetings to answer the
shareholders’ questions;

(2) the corporate communications such as (i) annual reports, (ii)
interim reports, (iii) notices of meeting, (iv) circulars and
(v) forms of proxy are available on the Stock Exchange's
website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's website
at “www.wecon.com.hk”:

(3) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange's website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the
Company’s website at “www.wecon.com.hk”;

(4) the Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Hong Kong branch
share registrar of the Company, serves the shareholders in
respect of share registration, dividend payment and related
matters; and

(5) the corporate information is made available from time to
time on the Company’s website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Company is committed to maintain effective and timely
dissemination of the Group's information to shareholders and
potential investors. Any enquiries to the Board or the Company
may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of
this annual report, there was no changes in the Company’s
memorandum of association and the Articles.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board undertakes to periodically review the internal control
and risk management systems of the Group to ensure their
effectiveness and efficiency and is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control system of the Group. The Directors
believe that effectiveness of the internal control system can
avoid or reduce risks which can cause loss or reputational
damage to the Group.

During the year, the Group engaged an external independent
internal control adviser to execute an internal audit function.
The scope includes identify, monitor and manage the key
risks area associated with the business activities in relation to
the operational matters/practices of the Group. The adviser
provided their findings and recommendations for improvement
and issued the internal control review report to the Audit
Committee for their considering and reviewing.

The Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group by
considering the internal control review report and consider that
they are effective and adequate.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of insider information, the Group has a strict
prohibition on the unauthorised use of confidential or insider
information in the staff handbook.

Prior to the listing, the Company arranged a training session
on the topic of inside information disclosure which is provided
by our Hong Kong legal adviser to all Directors as continuing
professional trainings in order to enhance the corporate
governance of the Group.
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AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESREREERBNOEREFNS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”), aged 67, was appointed
as our Director on 23 March 2018 and was redesignated as
our executive Director on 23 January 2019. Mr. KY Tsang is
the chairman and chief executive officer of our Group, and a
managing director of all our subsidiaries. He is responsible for
the overall strategic planning and business development as well
as executing the overall operation of our Group.

Mr. KY Tsang has over 41 years of experience in civil
engineering, building and construction industry. Prior to
founding our Group, Mr. KY Tsang worked as a project manager
in various construction contractors in Hong Kong, where he
commenced his career in the engineering and construction
industry. From July 1974 to August 1978, Mr. KY Tsang worked
in Wong & Ouyang & Associates Architects and Engineers Hong
Kong in contract section and was mainly responsible for contract
administration, preparation of tender specification and tender
documents. From August 1978 to October 1979, Mr. KY Tsang
worked in T.K. Shen Construction Co. as a project manager and
was mainly responsible for project supervision and liaising with
clients. From October 1979 to February 1982, Mr. KY Tsang
worked in Leon Eng. & Const. Co. Ltd. as a project manager;
and was subsequently promoted to executive director and was
mainly responsible for project supervision. Mr. KY Tsang worked
in Hing Lee Construction Co., Ltd as contract manager from
March 1982 to February 1984 and was mainly responsible for
contract administration, project management, site personnel
management, preparation of building estimates and all works in
connection with tender documents.
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Mr. KY Tsang obtained Certificate of Land Surveying and
Higher Certificate of Building Technology from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic in July 1973 and November 1975 respectively. Mr.
KY Tsang also obtained an Industrial Management Diploma
from Institution of Industrial Managers in August 1983. In
March 2017, Mr. KY Tsang also received a Master’'s Degree
for Engineering Management from University of Technology,
Sydney. Since October 2017, Mr. KY Tsang has been admitted
as fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Construction Manager. Mr.
KY Tsang is one of the controlling shareholders, and the father
of Mr. Philip Tsang and Mr. Jerry Tsang.

Mr. KY Tsang was as a member of the Registered Contractors’
Disciplinary Board Panel by the Housing, Planning and Lands
Bureau from 1999 to 2005. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. KY Tsang
had also been appointed as the Vice Chairman of Building
Committee of The Hong Kong Construction Association. From
2008 to 2009, Mr. KY Tsang served as the President of Rotary
Club of Hong Kong Northwest. In 2013 to 2015, Mr. KY Tsang
assumed the office of a Board Director of Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals. Since April 2017, Mr. KY Tsang was admitted
as Council Member of Hong Kong Construction Association.
Since April 2017, Mr. KY Tsang has become the Vice Chairman
of the Small & Medium Enterprise Committee of Hong Kong
Construction Association. Since November 2016, Mr. KY Tsang
held the post of an independent manager of the Incorporated
Management Committee by TWGHs Tsui Tsin Tong School.
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Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip (“Mr. Philip Tsang”), aged 38, was
appointed as the deputy director of Wecon Limited in August
2012. He was appointed as our Director on 25 June 2018 and
was re-designated as our executive Director on 23 January
2019. He is responsible for the overall construction projects

management and daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Philip Tsang joined our Group in November 2008 as a
project coordinator of Wecon Limited before he left our Group
in May 2010. Mr. Philip Tsang has returned to our Group since
August 2012 as deputy director of Wecon Limited. Mr. Philip
Tsang studied from Santa Monica College from year of 2000 to
2002 without obtaining accredited certificates. Mr. Philip Tsang
is the son of Mr. KY Tsang and the elder brother of Mr. Jerry
Tsang.

Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry (“Mr. Jerry Tsang”), aged 33, was
appointed as our Director on 25 June 2018 and was re-
designated as executive Director on 23 January 2019. He is
responsible for the overall administrative, information system,
financial and human resources planning of our Group.

Mr. Jerry Tsang joined our Group in March 2010 as an
investment executive of Wecon Limited. Mr. Jerry Tsang
obtained the Diploma of Commerce from Melbourne Institute
of Business and Technology in March 2008 and received a
degree of Bachelor of Arts (Business Enterprise) from University
of Birmingham in September 2013. Mr. Jerry Tsang is the son of
Mr. KY Tsang and the younger brother of Mr. Philip Tsang.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lau Chi Keung (“Dr. Lau”), aged 65, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2019. He
is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to
our Board. He is currently a director of Fong On Construction
Limited, Fong On Geotechnics Limited, Po Shing Construction
Limited, James Lau & Associates Limited and the executive
director and chief executive officer of Ri Ying Holdings Limited
(formly known as Shing Chi Holdings Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1741).

Dr. Lau has over 41 years of experience in engineering. Dr.
Lau worked as a graduate engineer in Ho Chung, Wallace
Evans & Company Limited in August 1978 with his last position
held as an engineer in 1984. He was then employed by WS
Atkins (Services) Limited as a group engineer with his last
position held as a senior group engineer and head of the soil-
structure interaction group from May 1988 to August 1994. Dr.
Lau worked as an adjunct professor at The City University of
Hong Kong from June 2006 to June 2012 and The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University from April 2002 to March 2005. He has
re-joined The Hong Kong Polytechnic University as an adjunct
professor since March 2016. In recognition of his valuable
experience and knowledge in the civil and environmental
engineering industry, Dr. Lau is invited to be an adjunct
professor in the Department of Civil and Environmental, The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology from April
2020 to March 2023.
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Dr. Lau was admitted to memberships of the following
institutions and bodies:

Name of institution Membership grade

FIELER R DA THERAEBHKE -

Month and year of approval
of membership grade

HEEE 2845l SERBINMZEGR B G
The Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators Fellow May 2018

BEMEFSZE 8 2018454

The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators Member January 2005

Rt E RS2 28 200551 A

The Hong Kong University of Science

Honorary Fellow
and Technology

EHERRKRE KERT

The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers Member/Fellow
BETIZAE S g8 /K8

The Institution of Structural Engineers Member

EE LIRS g8

The Institution of Civil Engineers Member
TARTIZMES g8

November 2002

2002411 A

August 1983/June 1999
198358 H 199946 A
November 1982
19824114

December 1982
19824124

Dr. Lau has been a registered professional engineer (civil,
structural, and geotechnical) of Hong Kong Engineers
Registration Board since October 1997. He has also been a
registered structural engineer, an authorised person (list of
engineers), a registered geotechnical engineer and a registered
inspector under the Buildings Ordinance since August 1997,
April 1998, May 2005 and November 2012, respectively. Dr. Lau
has also been a first class registered structural engineer of the
National Administration Board of Architectural Registration of
the PRC since June 2000. Dr. Lau has also been an arbitrator
and mediator of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,
an accredited general mediator of Hong Kong Mediation
Accreditation Association Limited and appointed as an
accredited adjudicator of Hong Kong International Arbitration
Centre since April 2005, July 2017 and 2015, respectively.

In July 1978, Dr. Lau received the Bachelor of Science (Civil &
Structural Engineering) from University College Cardiff (currently
known as Cardiff University). In December 1985 and May 1989,
Dr. Lau further obtained a Master’s Degree and a Doctorate
Degree in soil mechanics at the University of Cambridge.

40 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

21+ 51997F10A 8 &AE B T2t
EERMFMEEIRM(LA  BERE
+ ) B19979F8A * 1998448 « 200545H
K012 1M AR - IR 5 B B EED &5
HTNZAMERTIZA - TRRANZERATA
T AMELIRMEEIMBBRAE - 8
20005F6 H B - 1IN A Bl 2 B sk T2 2
MEIRE B SR M — AR TR -
B2005%4 A + 2017578 K&2015% #& - 2|
BEIoRAEEIREMESHEE AR
B BAARERTENEBERARZRA
RAEFARBYERZTEABTBRBRHIHEF LR
AEHEE -

MR1978F7 A - BIIE TES Ay K B (R
BmMOmERB)IARSERIRBESS LA
i - FA1985F12 A 21989458 » B+ 5
AE—TRERIBREBLENBELTRIEL

B -



Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond (“Mr. Chan”), aged 61, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on
21 January 2019. He is primarily responsible for providing
independent advice to our Board.

As a practicing solicitor, Mr. Chan has over 34 years of
experience in the legal profession. Mr. Chan was awarded the
Bachelor of Laws from University of Birmingham in July 1982
and passed the Solicitors’ Final Examination organised by The
Law Society of England and Wales in November 1983. Mr. Chan
then joined Johnson Stokes & Master (currently known as Mayer
Brown) as a trainee solicitor and was subsequently promoted
as an assistant solicitor and a partner before he left the firm
in 1995. In 1996, Mr. Chan formed the practice Raymond T.Y.
Chan, Victoria Chan & Co. and has been a partner since then.

Mr. Chan was admitted as a solicitor of Hong Kong in 1985 and
admitted as a solicitor of England and Wales and a barrister
and solicitor of the Supreme Court of Australia Capital Territory
in April 1989 and August 1990, respectively. In August 1990, he
was also admitted as an advocate and solicitor of Singapore.

Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel (“Mr. Sze"), aged 63, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 21 January 2019.
He is primarily responsible for providing independent advice to
our Board. He is currently a director of J&J Investments Limited
and an independent non-executive director of Pacific Textiles
Holdings Limited, which is a company listed in Hong Kong (Stock
Code: 1382).
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Mr. Sze has over 39 years of experience in business and
administrative management. Mr. Sze worked as an internal
auditor in Ford Motor Company from 1980 to 1982. From 1982
to 1985, he worked as an assistant finance manager in National
Mutual. He then joined CITIBANK N.A. as a group financial
controller (private banking, Asia Pacific) from 1986 to 1989
and was subsequently promoted as business head marketing
(island central zone — Hong Kong) before he left CITIBANK N.A.
in 1993. From 1993 to 1995, he worked as a head of private
banking (Hong Kong booking centre) at American Express
Bank. He then joined Morgan Stanley Asia Ltd as an executive
director (private client sales department — Hong Kong & Taiwan)
from 1995 to 2001. From 2001 to 2007, he worked as a chief
executive officer (global wealth management, private banking,
Asia Pacific) at Barclays Bank Plc. From 2007 to 2009, he re-
joined CITIBANK N.A. as an investment and product head
(global wealth management, Asia Pacific). He then jointed EFG
International Group as a deputy chief executive officer (EFG
Bank, Asia Pacific) in 2009 and was subsequently promoted as
a chief executive officer (EFG Asset Management, Asia Pacific)
before he left the group in 2013. From 2014 to 2015, he joined
Julius Baer as a managing director and country head (China and
Hong Kong).

Mr. Sze has been admitted as a fellow of CPA Australia since
January 2007 and was licensed as a responsible officer for
conducting type 9 regulated activities by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong since September 2017.

In May 1980, Mr. Sze received the Bachelor of Business Studies
from Swinburne University (formerly known as Swinburne
College of Technology), Australia. In August 2007, he obtained
a Master's Degree in Business from University of Newcastle,
Australia.

Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors had not held
any directorship in the last three years in any public company
the securities of which is listed on any securities market in Hong
Kong or overseas.
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Save as disclosed above, each of our Directors confirms with
respect to him that: (a) he did not hold other positions in our
Company or other members of our Group as at the Reporting
Date; (b) he did not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management, substantial shareholder or
controlling shareholder of our Company as at the Reporting
Date; (c) he does not have any interests in our Shares within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, save as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Report of the Directors — Disclosure of
Interests” in this report; (d) he does not have any interest in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with us, which is discloseable under the Listing Rules;
and (e) to the best of the knowledge, information and belief of
our Directors having made all reasonable enquiries, there was
no additional information relating to our Directors or senior
management that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and no other matter with respect to
their appointments that needs to be brought to the attention of
our Shareholders as at the 31 March 2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu Wing Lun Allan (“Mr. Wu"), aged 42, is the project
manager of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Group. He joined our Group in November
2007 and is mainly responsible for the management and
administration of different projects in our Group.

Mr. Wu has over 19 years of experience in civil engineering,
building and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Wu mainly worked as structural engineer and project
manager in various structural consulting firms and construction
contractors in Hong Kong, where he commenced his career
in the engineering and construction industry. From 2000 to
2001, Mr. Wu worked in Shun Shing Construction Co. Ltd. as
an assistant site engineer. From 2001 to 2004, Mr. Wu worked
in Canwest Consultants (International) Ltd. as an engineer; and
from 2004 to 2007, Mr. Wu worked in Realfit Engineering Ltd.
as an assistant project manager and was mainly responsible for
assisting the project manager in monitoring project operations,
planning and site coordinating work.

Mr. Wu obtained a Bachelor of Engineering from McMaster
University Canada in November 2000 and a Certificate of
Engineering Graduate Training Scheme from Vocational
Training Council of Hong Kong in January 2003. Mr. Wu has also
obtained a Master's Degree in Civil Infrastructure Engineering
and Management from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 2004. In November 2014, Mr.
Wu was admitted as the Authorised Signatory by the Register
of General Building Contractors in Buildings Department. In
September 2015, Mr. Wu was admitted as a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers. Mr. Wu has also
obtained a Certificate of Building Environmental Assessment
Method Professional (New Buildings) from Hong Kong Green
Building Council in May 2017.
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Ms. Tsang Lee Mei (“Ms. Tsang”), aged 50, is the financial
controller of Wecon Limited and company secretary of our
Company. She joined our Group in January 2018 as financial
controller and is primarily responsible for financial management
and compliance assurance of our Group.

Ms. Tsang has over 25 years of experience in accounting. Prior
to joining our Group, Ms. Tsang mainly provides accounting
and auditing service in Hong Kong, where she commenced her
career in the accounting and auditing industry. From 1988 to
1994, Ms. Tsang worked in Respironics (HK) Limited as accounts
clerk, and was subsequently promoted to the position of senior
accounts clerk and department head of accounting in 1990 and
1992 respectively. From 1996 to 1997, Ms. Tsang worked in Y.L.
Ngan & Company CPA as audit trainee. From 1997 to 1998, Ms.
Tsang worked in K.L. Lee & Co. CPA as audit junior. From 1999
to 2006, Ms. Tsang joined Kwong Ming Engineering Limited
as finance manager. From 2006 to 2016, Ms. Tsang worked
in Mobicon Holdings Limited as finance manager; and from
2016 to 2018, Ms. Tsang worked in K.H. Foundation Limited
as assistant finance manager and was mainly responsible
for providing assistance to financial controller in respect of
accounting and finance services.

Ms. Tsang obtained a Bachelor Degree in Combined Studies —
Accounting from De Monfort University, Leicester, the United
Kingdom in June 1996 and a Bachelor Degree in Professional
Accounting from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
of the PRC in May 2004. In November 2007, Ms. Tsang was
awarded the degree of Master of Science and Finance by The
City University of Hong Kong. Since October 1994, Ms. Tsang
has been admitted as member of the Association of Accounting
Technicians. Since May 1999, Ms. Tsang has also been admitted
as an Accountant by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (HKICPA). She has also become fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) since
May 2004.
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Ms. Hui Pik Yuet (“Ms. Hui"), aged 47, is the Head of human
resources and administration of Wecon Limited and a member
of the senior management of our Group. She joined our Group
in January 2015 and is mainly responsible for administrative and
human resources matters of our Group.

Ms. Hui has over 22 years of experience in business
administration, human resources and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Hui mainly worked as
human resources officer and manager in various companies
in Hong Kong, where she started her career in the human
resources and administration industry. From 1998 to 1999, Ms.
Hui worked in Pruton Prudential Hotel as personnel and training
assistant. From 1999 to 2002, Ms. Hui worked in China Harbour
Engineering Company (Group) Limited as a human resources
officer. From 2002 to 2003, Ms. Hui worked in WorldCard (Hong
Kong) Limited as administration and marketing executive; from
2003 to 2005, Ms. Hui worked in Fountain Set (Holdings) Limited
as a human resources officer; and from June 2005 to April
2008, Ms. Hui worked in China Resources Insurance Consultants
Limited as human resources and administration manager;
from April 2008 to December 2014, Ms. Hui was subsequently
transferred to China Resources Investment Enterprise Ltd. as
human resources and administration manager and was then
worked to the personnel and administration department in CRE
Properties (Hong Kong) Ltd. and China Resources Insurance
Consultants Limited as human resources and administration
manager and was mainly responsible for human resources and
administrative matter.

Ms. Hui obtained a Bachelor Degree in Bachelor of Arts from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1997. Ms.
Hui also obtained a Diploma in Management Studies from
Lingnan University/The Hong Kong Management Association in
September 2001.

Mr. Choi Ying Tung (“Mr. Choi”), aged 45, is the safety and
environmental manager of Wecon Limited and a member of
the senior management of our Group. He joined our Group
in August 2007 and is mainly responsible for safety and
environmental management of our Group.
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Mr. Choi has over 22 years of experience in civil engineering,
buildings and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Choi mainly worked as safety officer in various construction
companies in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the
construction industry. From 1997 to 1999, Mr. Choi worked in
Far East Consulting Engineers Ltd. as an assistant engineer.
From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Choi worked in Chevalier (Construction)
Company Ltd as a technical assistant. From 2001 to 2004, Mr.
Choi worked in Hip Hing Construction Co., Ltd as a safety
officer; and from November 2004 to August 2007, Mr. Choi
worked in Union Glory E&M Engineering Ltd. as a project
engineer and safety officer.

Mr. Choi obtained certificate in Hong Kong Advanced Level
Examination in 1995 and a Higher Diploma in Building
Services Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1997. In November 2001, Mr. Choi obtained Post-
experience Certificate in Industrial Safety from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Choi also obtained a Certificate
for the completion of the training in Location of Underground
Electricity Cables from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
July 2004. In February 2005, Mr. Choi completed Safety Auditor
Training Schemes provided by The Hong Kong Productivity
Council and James Safety Consultant Limited. In 2008, Mr.
Choi obtained a Bachelor Degree in Engineering Mechanics,
Materials and Design from the Hong Kong Open University. In
August 2012, Mr. Choi obtained the Professional Certificate in
Environmental Management for Construction (Environmental
officer) from Vacation Training Council.

In March 2011, Mr. Choi was admitted as Registered Electrical
Worker (permitted work: BO and HO categories) by Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department. Mr. Choi was admitted as
Registered Safety Officer and Registered Safety Auditor by the
Labour Department in August 2002. In August 2012 and January
2009 respectively, Mr. Choi was awarded the Professional
Certificate in Environmental Management of Construction
(Environmental Officer) by the Vocation Training Centre. Mr.
Choi was awarded a certificate of Building Environmental
Assessment Method Professional (New Buildings) since
November 2017 by The Hong Kong Green Building Council.
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Mr. Ho Chi Ming, Wilson (“Mr. Ho"), aged 58, is the Assistant
General Manager of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior
management of our Group. He joined our Group in March 2017
and is mainly responsible for management and administration of
different projects in our Group.

Mr. Ho has over 35 years of experience in buildings and
construction industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ho mainly
worked as project manager in various construction companies
in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the construction
industry. From 1984 to 1987, Mr. Ho worked in Yeu Shing
Construction Co., Ltd. as a site agent. From 1987 to 1994, Mr.
Ho worked in Yau Lee Construction Co., Ltd as a site agent/
senior quantity surveyor. From 1994 to 1996, Mr. Ho worked
in Hoi Sing Construction Co., Ltd as senior project manager.
From 1996 to 1997, Mr. Ho worked in Wan Chung Construction
Co., Ltd as a senior project manager. From 1997 to 2000, Mr.
Ho worked in Dynasty Building Ltd. as a manager. From 2000
to 2002, Mr. Ho worked in Gammon Skanska Ltd. as a site
agent and from 2002 to February 2017, Mr. Ho worked in Able
Engineering Co., Ltd as a project manager.

In September 2005, Mr. Ho obtained a Bachelor Degree of
Applied Science in Construction Management and Economics
from Curtin University of Technology.

In August 2005, Mr. Ho was also admitted as a member of
The Chartered Institute of Building. Mr. Ho was admitted as
Chartered Construction Manager by The Chartered Institute of
Building in September 2014.
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Mr. Yee Fei Hung (“Mr. Yee"), aged 41, is the Quality Manager
of Wecon Limited and a member of the senior management of
our Group. He joined our Group in January 2011 and is mainly
responsible for quality assurance and management of our
Group.

Mr. Yee has over 18 years of experience in engineering,
buildings and construction industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Yee mainly worked as site supervisor in various construction
companies in Hong Kong, where he started his career in the
construction industry. From 2001 to 2008, Mr. Yee worked in
Hsin Chong Construction Group Limited as an assistant site
supervisor. From 2008 to 2009, Mr. Yee worked in B.S.C. Interior
Contract and Engineering Co. Limited as a site supervisor
and from 2009 to 2010, Mr. Yee worked in Shui On Building
Contractors Limited as a site agent.

Mr. Yee obtained a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from
Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in July 2005. In
May 2015, Mr. Yee also obtained a Bachelor of Science (Hons)
in Building Surveying from City University of Birmingham of the
United Kingdom.

Save as disclosed above, each member of the senior
management of our Group had not held any directorship in
the last three years in other public companies, the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or

overseas.
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EFERT

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is a long established main contractor in Hong Kong
principally engaged in the provision of (i) building construction
services and (i) RMAA in Hong Kong. Details of the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) including the description of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the section
of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 4 to 16 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of Directors’ report. Moreover, the details
of the financial risk management of the Group are disclosed in

note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 23
March 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The Group
completed the Reorganisation on 21 December 2018 in
preparation of the Listing on the Stock Exchange pursuant in
which the Company became the holding company of the Group.
For details of the Reorganisation, please refer to the section
headed "History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” in
the Prospectus.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange
since 27 February 2019.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risks of non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations. During the year ended 31
March 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group
in all material aspects has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. There was no material breach or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date
of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 87.7%
(2019: approximately 81.1%) of the total revenue of the
Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 34.2% (2019: approximately 31.2%) of the total

revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately
30.8% (2019: approximately 26.1%) of the total subcontracting
cost of the Group and the largest subcontractor of the Group
accounted for approximately 8.2% (2019: approximately 7.2%) of
the total subcontracting cost.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 80.1% (2019:
approximately 70.4%) of the total purchases of construction
materials of the Group and the largest supplier of the Group
accounted for approximately 34.8% (2019: approximately 46.5%)
of the total purchases of construction materials.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5%
of the Company's issued share capital) has any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers or suppliers or
subcontractors.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS,
SUBCONTRACTORS AND EMPLOYEES

Customers

The Group maintains active relationship with our customers
to explore potential business opportunities and is highly
committed to delivering quality services to our customers on
time.

Subcontractors and Suppliers

The Group maintains a list of approved subcontractors (based
on their previous experience, skills, present work load, price
quotations and historical work quality) and suppliers (based on
their prices, quality, past performance and capacity).

Employees

The Group recognised employees as valuable assets of
the Group. The Group intends to adopt the competitive
remuneration, attractive welfare benefits and continuous
professional training to attract and retain appropriate and
suitable personnel to serve the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no material
dispute or disagreement between the Group and its customers,
subcontractors, suppliers and employees.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 81 of this
annual report.

The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK1.9 cents per
share (2019: HK1.4 cents per share), which amounts to a total of
HK$15.2 milliion (2019: HK$11.2 million) in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2020, to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members at the close of business on Friday,
28 August 2020. The proposed final dividend is subject to the
approval of the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting scheduled to be held on Friday, 21
August 2020 (the “2020 AGM").
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 172
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Details of the use of Net Proceeds are set out on pages 15 to
16 of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2020 AGM of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2020 is scheduled to be held on Friday, 21 August 2020. A
notice convening the 2020 AGM will be issued and despatched
to the shareholders according to the applicable law, the articles
of association of the Company and the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the identity of the shareholders of the Company
who will be entitled to attend and vote at the 2020 AGM,
the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 18 August 2020 to Friday, 21 August 2020, both dates
inclusive, the period during which no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2020
AGM, all completed share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at its office at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 17 August 2020.
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Subject to the shareholders’ approval at the 2020 AGM, to
ascertain the shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend,
the Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 27 August 2020 to Friday, 28 August 2020, the period
during which no transfer of shares will be effected. Subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the 2020 AGM approving
the payment of the final dividend, the final dividend is expected
to be paid on Friday, 18 September 2020. In order to qualify
for receiving the final dividend, all completed share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at the above address not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 August 2020.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable contributions made by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2020 amounted to approximately HK$205,000
(2019: approximately HK$150,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the authorised share capital and issued
share capital during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out
in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a Share Option Scheme which was approved
and adopted by the sole shareholder of the Company by way of
written resolutions passed on 21 January 2019. No share option
has been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme since its adoption date and up to the
date of this annual report.
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Summary of terms of the Share Option Scheme

(@)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group
and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-
calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of
the Group holds any equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Who may join

Our Directors shall, in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, be entitled but
shall not be bound at any time within a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme to make an offer to any person belonging
to the following classes:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including
our Directors (including any non- executive Director
and independent non-executive Director)), any of
our subsidiaries (within the meaning of Companies
Ordinance) or any Invested Entity (an “eligible
employee”);

(i) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii)

any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(iv) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
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(vi) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant,
individual or entity who in the opinion of our Directors
has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group; and

(vii) any other groups or classes of participants who have

contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,

business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group,

and, for the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, the offer
for the grant of an option may be made to any company
wholly-owned by one or more eligible participants.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who falls within any of the
above classes of eligible participants shall not, by itself,
unless our Directors otherwise determine, be construed as
a grant of option under the Share Option Scheme.

The eligibility of any of the eligible participants to an offer
under the Share Option Scheme shall be determined by our
Directors from time to time on the basis of our Directors’
opinion as to such eligible participant’s contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

()  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and
yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30% of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. No options may
be granted under the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes adopted by the Group if
the grant of such options will result in the limit referred
herein being exceeded.
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(i)

(iii)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Group) to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed
10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
as at the date on which dealings in the Shares first
commence on the Stock Exchange, being 80,000,000
Shares (“General Scheme Limit").

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iv) below,
the Company may seek approval of our shareholders
in general meeting to refresh the General Scheme
Limit provided that the total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and for
the purpose of calculating the limit, options (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group) previously
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group will not be
counted.

Subject to (i) above and without prejudice to (iii)
above, the Company may seek separate shareholders’
approval in general meeting to grant options under
the Share Option Scheme beyond the General Scheme
Limit or, if applicable, the extended limit referred to in
(iii) above to eligible participants specifically identified
by the Company before such approval is sought.

(i)

(iii)
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Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

Subject to (e) below, the total number of Shares issued
and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Group (including
both exercised or outstanding options) to each eligible
participant who accepts the offer for the grant of an option
under the Share Option Scheme (a “grantee”) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Where any
further grant of options under the Share Option Scheme
to a grantee would result in the Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and proposed
to be granted to such person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of
the share capital of the Company in issue, such further
grant shall be separately approved by our shareholders in
general meeting with such grantee and his close associates
(or his associates if the participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to core connected persons

(i) Without prejudice to (ii) below, the making of an offer
under the Share Option Scheme to any Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates shall be approved
by our independent non-executive Directors (excluding
any independent non-executive Director who is the
proposed grantee of an option under the Share Option
Scheme).
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(i) Without prejudice to (i) above, where any grant
of options under the Share Option Scheme to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director or any of their respective associates,
would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options under the Share Option
Scheme already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in the 12-month period up to and including the
date of such grant:

(a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the share
capital of the Company in issue; and

(b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares at the offer date of each offer,
in excess of HK$5 million;

such further grant of options shall be approved by our
shareholders in general meeting. The proposed grantee, his
associates and all core connected persons of the Company
shall abstain from voting in favour at such general meeting.

For the purpose of seeking the approval of our shareholders
under paragraphs (c), (d) and (e) above, the Company
shall send a circular to our shareholders containing the
information required under the Listing Rules and where the
Listing Rules shall so require, the vote at the shareholders’
meeting convened to obtain the requisite approval shall
be taken on a poll with those persons required under the
Listing Rules abstaining from voting.

Time of acceptance and exercise of an option

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open
for acceptance by the eligible participant concerned (and
by no other person) for a period of up to 21 days from the
date, which shall be a business day, on which the offer is
made to the eligible participant.

BIERERAT

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

(i) TEBLXOWBERT @ HWREE
Prtest &M = ERRSBILIEHTT
BEERREZEEMBEARDE
g E - BREBEABERLA
H(BREZB) /L ER20EA B
BATEREBREASIERT
LR THBALTNBRE(BRE
B17E  EE#EREARITENE
Pt ) 217 Ko T 3T R Bt 48
2

e

ARAB D HEITRA

oj

(a)

© o
R
Pl

(b) *ETF?’K%??’]E’JEZ’J A H %
MU TES BERBSE
S5

ARBE - IR EBREARNBRRAE
BRI - AR AE L 2
AR A - HE %&}\&ﬁ AP AL

BN ANERENE
FARIR £30() ~ (d) K(e)B FRAR R fit
EME - ARA] /,\ﬁﬂﬁiﬁnﬂ%fﬁim

AR EERER K - i EWRABLLE
ME > FTERNBRAE EAMRET
AFRRABIS AT A#LE - ERBIRE
MR A L AMERE

o

BREEARITEHR

BREAHENBRREIZORBACA
REXER)BHARZ2QVBHRINART
BERZEE(ETSREMAL)E

F432019/2020 59



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEgHE

60

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by our Directors to the grantee
thereof, and in the absence of such determination, from
the date of acceptance of the offer of such option to the
earlier of (i) the date on which such option lapses under the
relevant provisions of the Share Option Scheme; and (i) the
date falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

An offer shall have been accepted by an eligible participant
in respect of all Shares which are offered to such eligible
participant when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance
of the offer duly signed by the eligible participant together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an eligible participant
in respect of less than the number of Shares which are
offered provided that it is accepted in respect of a board
lot for dealings in the Shares on Main Board or an integral
multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly
signed by such eligible participant and received by the
Company together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).
Such remittance shall in no circumstances be refundable.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

BREIRESEEMAGEARAR
RN ) D 10 B By AR 15 R A A T 1 0 160
T E|AE L AR E - BB AZ%
BRENZHOEHEEATHRREL
E(VREBEBEOES BIMERG %8
PR B R (i) iz B R 2
KB BERTMI0FER ©

EARARARBAAEEENRE(TE
BEREHBHRF2IR)RESERS
HEETARENZOZANITEIA - &
R 32 A T 28 2 A) 9 FE 501.0078 7T (JA K
THEEERERN)K  a&KR28EE
BIERMEEZONMAERNDHEL
EREIBERT - ZEFPTERE

BERSEET DR HH DB
BEMBL - HEMTEANZOEY MK
MREREEN —FEURETERS
2 BZBBVBRERARAREY
FIBERE A (MR N B A B
AR EEZEERSEEZDRE
MBAZANERIAN - ERXETAR
7] H) [ 70 1.0078 7T (1F /3 1 1% BE A HE Y
RE) - EABERT - ZEFBRE -



(g9) Subscription price for Shares
The subscription price in respect of any option shall,
subject to the adjustments, be at the discretion of our
Directors, provided that it shall not be less than the highest
of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for trade in one or
more board lots of the Shares on the offer date;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five

business days immediately preceding the offer date;
and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

(h) Period of the Share Option Scheme
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on the date on which the Share
Option Scheme is adopted, namely 20 January 2029.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2020, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
its Shares.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
Directors’ Interest in the Company and Associated Corporation

As at 31 March 2020, interests or short positions the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which were required (i) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein,
or (iii) pursuant to Model Code contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

(i) Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

ERRE
EERADAREB AN ER

MR2020F3A31H * KRR EERESITH
ABRARBISE AR EZE(TERE
FREEGEG([#BHRBEHKRE ) EXVEL)
2B~ HEER D REHTHEB()VRIEES
N ER BB EXVEBE TR B8N W2 B EA
MEARRNE) Rz AR (BIER
BEH KB 2 ZEBRSCmAR ESETA
BEHEB 2 E=LAR)  KNVBRIEFH K
HA & 150 B 35218 BB R R Z G FT L AR 2 &)
BREzERZMRERZ AR i)k
B EMRAMSR10EESFRIZ R EMASTT
MEARRNE) R MR BIT

() REQXFINEBERFR

Number of Approximate

shares held percentage of

Name of Director Capacity/Nature (Long position) shareholding
RO EE IRAEMA

EEEH 51,/ HE (FR) EEild
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (“Mr. KY Tsang”) Interest in a controlled corporation 600,000,000 75%

PREXE([ERELLE] (Note)

SEHEE R ()

Note: These shares are held by Triple Arch Limited (“Triple Arch”). Triple Arch is 100%
beneficially owned by Mr. KY Tsang and therefore, Mr. KY Tsang is deemed to
be interested in the shares of the Company held by Triple Arch under the SFO.

(ii) Long position in ordinary shares of associated corporation

MiFE : ZEBA A Triple Arch Limited ([Triple Arch])
548 o Triple Archil & RE % £ E A 100% &
o FRREES RIS G - B RE RS
AR Triple ArchFT#EE 8RR RIIR (D R G #E s ©

(i) AEBZENEBERTE

Number of Approximate
percentage of

shareholding

shares held
in associated

Name of corporation in associated

Name of Director associated corporation Capacity/Nature (Long position) corporation

AR L E Vel o T

FrisiRtr A B RERE A

E=2H A B 5 [ 7 g4 1HE (#FR) Bk
Mr. KY Tsang Triple Arch Beneficial owner

RER A Triple Arch BEm#EA A 1 100%
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares in the Company other

than Director
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BREZUNEBERRNAD R B ES

Approximate
Number of percentage of

shares held interest in

Name Nature of interest (Long position) our Company
FERGEA HARRQ TR

=t ERME (&) BRABEDLE

Triple Arch Beneficial owner (Note 1)

Triple Arch Eaa APED) 600,000,000 75%

Ms. Lai Yuk Lin, Eliza Interest of spouse (Note 2)

("Ms. Lai")
REBLL([RLL]) T B s (M EE2) 600,000,000 75%
Notes: B

1. Triple Arch is 100% beneficially owned by Mr. KY Tsang and therefore, Mr. KY Tsang is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by Triple Arch under the
SFO.

2. Ms. Lai is the spouse of Mr. KY Tsang. Therefore, Ms. Lai is deemed to be interested in

the shares of the Company in which Mr. KY Tsang is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, no person, other
than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the section
headed "Directors’ Interest in the Company and Associated
Corporation” above, had registered an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company that was
required to be recorded pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, in the opinion of the Directors, the
reserves of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands amounted to approximately HK$77.4 million (2019:
approximately HK$89.7 million).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements
were entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
March 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report, none of the Directors or their close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) has any interest in a business
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The controlling shareholders, Mr. Tsang Ka Yip and Triple
Arch Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
had entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of
the Company on 21 January 2019 (the "Non-competition
Undertaking”). Details of the Non-competition Undertaking are
set out in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling
Shareholders”
had confirmed the state of compliance of the Non-competition

in the Prospectus. The Controlling Shareholders

Undertaking and the independent non- executive Directors have
reviewed that state of compliance of each of the controlling
shareholder with the undertakings in the Non-competition
Undertaking and as far as the independent non-executive
Directors can ascertain, there has been no breach of the
undertakings given in the Non-competition Undertaking by the
controlling shareholder during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2020 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel
Dr. Lau Chi Keung
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond
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Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Such retiring Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting. As such, Mr. Tsang
Ka Yip as an executive Director and Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel
as an independent non-executive Director, will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
2020 AGM.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considered all of its INEDs to be
independent in accordance with the independence criteria as
set out under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there was no
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its holding Company, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company
or his connected entities had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 March 2020.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
2020 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020 are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The remuneration of the Directors was reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee and was determined according to the
qualifications, experience, skills, education background as well
as the contributions which the Director may bring to the Board,
with reference to the prevailing market remuneration level
offered by companies having similar business and size to the
Company, in order to retain and attract high calibre executives
as the Directors of the Company.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section of "Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 36 to

49 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Other than operating a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, the
Group has not operated any other retirement benefit schemes
for its employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The total retirement benefit scheme contributions made by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$3.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2020 (2019: approximately HK$3.0 million).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No connected transactions were entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions were entered into by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2020 set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed VMS Securities Limited ("VMS”) to be the
compliance adviser of the Company. As at 31 March 2020, as
notified by VMS, except for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and VMS dated 25 June
2018, neither VMS nor any of its directors or employees or
associates, has or may have, any interest in the securities of the
Company or any member of the Group (including options or
rights to subscribe for such securities).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 17 to 35 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float of at least 25% of the
issued share capital of the Company under the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company'’s Articles provides that every Director is entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto provided that to the extend permitted by the law such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonestly which may attach to the Director.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of potential legal actions against the
Directors and officers arising out of corporate activities.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to support environmental protection
to ensure business development and sustainability. The Group
implements green office practices to reduce the consumption
of energy and natural resources. These practices include the
use of energy-saving lightings and recycled papers, reduce
energy consumption by switching off idle lightings, computers
and electrical appliances and the use of environmentally friendly
products whenever possible.

A separate environmental, social and governance report is
expected to be published on the Stock Exchange's website
and the Company’s website no later than three months after
the publication of this annual report in accordance with the
requirement under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There have been no other significant events occurred after
31 March 2020 and up to the date to this annual report which
requires disclosure.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire at the 2020 AGM as the auditor of
the Company and a resolution for their reappointment as the
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2020 AGM.
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REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 21 January 2019 with
specific written terms of reference which clearly deals with its
authority and duties.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for (a) maintaining
the relationship with the Company's auditor; (b) reviewing
the Company's financial information; (c) overseeing the
Company's financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems; and (d) overseeing the Company's
continuing connected transactions. The full version of the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee is available on the Stock
Exchange’s website at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company'’s

website at “www.wecon.com.hk”.

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Sze
Kwok Wing Nigel (Chairman), Dr. Lau Chi Keung and Mr. Chan
Tim Yiu Raymond. The composition of the Audit Committee
meets the requirements of Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

On behalf of the Board

Wecon Holdings Limited

Mr. Tsang Ka Yip

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 June 2020
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B2 AR S

EY:

To the shareholders of Wecon Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wecon Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 171, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “"Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRELEE

Accounting for construction contracts

BREENNEHEE

AREEXER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNELTEINEERREREE

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group's
revenue and costs recognised for construction
contracts amounted to approximately HK$968.0
million and HK$892.0 million, respectively.

HE2020F3A31HILEE © SEEBMEESHERR
W Es M AN Rl 49968.08 & 78T 2892.0A &8 T °

The Group's revenue from construction contracts
is recognised over time using the output method,
based on direct measurement of the value transferred
by the Group to the customers with reference to the
certified value of work performed up to the end of
the reporting period and the estimated total revenue
for the contracts entered into by the Group. The
Group's contract costs are recognised when work is
performed, together with any provision for onerous

contract.
AR ESERBERBEREHRESTHKIIENRAE

B BEREERITAQZEHAREMERTERZ
BEMNEEE X EEENEERANKRSENERAE L
FHEREETE o BERENGHOKARETIERER
ERERE OB EFLRER -
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We performed the following procedures in relation to
the recognition of revenue and costs for construction
contracts:

BRP2ZRITATRER - UHERREES MM MR

e performing analysis of revenue, gross profit
trend and their fluctuations, and cost structure
of construction contracts;

o Hlim EMBBRERE  UREES DMK
EEETON

e understanding and evaluating the Group's
process and control over contract revenue and
contract cost recognition and budget estimation;

o  THEYHE BEREHANKRENARAHERA
KIBEAEFTHRAR AT -

e testing the calculation of the revenue and profit
recognised from construction contracts;

o AIFBESH MRS KENHEE



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
HRELSE

Accounting for construction contracts (continued)

BEENHETEE (E)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB E

HAREREE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNERTENMEEHRERSE

The Group’s revenue and costs for contract works
are quantitatively significant to the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
recognition of contract revenue and profit relies on
management's estimate of the final outcome of each
contract, which involves the exercise of significant
management judgement, particularly in forecasting
the costs to complete a contract, in valuing contract
variations, claims and potential liquidated damages
and in estimating the provision for onerous contract.

BEEENANTIRESMRAYE BRELRAMBHRE
ERMEBRBEAN MAHNKBZIENEREEE
BEEHESNKRERNMG B MTREERNEEH
B LEA/FRTKRE KA B QB - BR R

BHEETEEREEE  UARMGEFEREO%E -

The accounting policies, accounting judgements
and estimates and disclosures for the recognition
of revenue from construction contracts are included
in notes 3, 4, 6 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRAEREEANFRBRFNGTEBCE - ST 4 &E
STANIE BN EGRE TS TRARN 3 4 616 °

e checking if the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation
agreed with the employers’ latest architect
certificates;

s RYBHEFEEZZMENEESTREISRMN
BEEEREE D —

e discussing with management and the respective
project teams about the progress of major
projects and the estimates and assumptions
adopted in the forecast of contract costs,
including estimated costs to completion,
assessment of potential liquidated damages
for major contracts and provision for onerous
contract;

e HEEELZEEERWEIZEENERRE
AR FEOBI & HOBC AN PR A B (i 5t e R AR \1%1‘&1
BRI - TR ROMBEEERERENER
B R RS

e checking the supporting documents of the
budgets on a sampling basis, which included
sub-contracting contracts, material purchase
contracts and price quotations; and

o LWMELIAETHEENE
W MHRBAOLEE &

BEIESR

B

e comparing last year's budget against current
year's budget or actual costs incurred for major
contracts on a sampling basis.

o DHBLAREFNREEAFENAERETE
HWELNBEBRKAETELR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R G

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

76

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Sau Pik.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

24 June 2020
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JW// CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meaEanREMEEBRAR

Year ended 31 March 2020

H ZE2020F3A31HLFE
2020 2019
20204 20194F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B RE FET FHT
REVENUE &= 6 1,204,001 980,589
Cost of sales SHEE AR (1,099,388) (890,081)
GROSS PROFIT EF 104,613 90,508
Other income and gains H AU A K W am 6 6,676 4,091
Administrative expenses and other TR REMEERS
operating expenses (50,579) (47,365)
Finance costs B 75 K AN 7 (359) (600)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBE AT 8 60,351 46,634
Income tax FriS %t 11 (9,855) (9,4006)
PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE A FEFEEBAEBLEER
INCOME FOR THE YEAR AR EEWRAEEE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY 50,496 37,228
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE ZEAF#EREFEA
TO EQUITY HOLDERS EhEREF
OF THE COMPANY 13
— Basic and diluted - ZAYSE: D HK6.3 cents HK6.0 cents
6.3784l 6.0
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31 March 2020
202043 A31H

IW// CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B e THET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y R NERE 14 8,726 6,831
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 7,809 =
Prepayments, deposits and other TAfTFRIE -~ e REAMER
receivables RIB 17 6,331 3,492
Total non-current assets FRBEERTE 22,866 10,323
CURRENT ASSETS hBEE
Contract assets and trade receivables  &#EEKE FERFIAE 16 334,727 246,019
Prepayments, deposits and other TARNFIE ~ R RHMER
receivables I 17 44,795 49,912
Pledged deposits EIRTEK 18 31,873 20,513
Time deposits TEHTFRK 18 105,726 144,888
Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 18 35,047 29,423
Total current assets MENEEARE 552,168 490,755
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAS
Trade and retention payables g o RN TR EMNRE S 19 183,206 118,895
Other payables and accruals E fth e RIE R EET B 20 105,574 124,023
Interest-bearing bank borrowing STERITER 21 = 10,000
Finance lease payables FERTR & T & FIA 22 = 461
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 4,994 -
Tax payable e IR 369 7,793
Total current liabilities FREE &S 294,143 261,172
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFHE 258,025 229,583
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES HEERRBARE 280,891 239,906
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R
31 March 2020
20209 3A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = THET FAT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBR & 23 814 632
Finance lease payables e EREHIE 22 = 598
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 2,108 =
Total non-current liabilities FREE EERE 2,922 1,230
NET ASSETS EEFE 277,969 238,676
EQUITY RS
Equity attributable to equity holders ~ ZNAFEZFIFEA
of the Company itz
Issued capital BEITIRA 24 8,000 8,000
Reserves fE & 25 269,969 230,676
Total equity wEs 277,969 238,676
Tsang Ka Yip Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry
BRE R RS
Director Director
EE 2
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IW// CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GLEREBEBR

Year ended 31 March 2020

HE20205F3 318 IEFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARRERSEAER
Issued Share Merger Retained Total
capital premium* reserve* profits* equity
BRTRE R AR E AR RERA* iR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(o THERT THET THERT THERT THERT
(note 25)
(FizE25)
At 1 April 2018 R®2018F4H1H = - 18,000 122,281 140,281
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREE
income for the year WA - - - 37,228 37,228
Additional investment in a subsidiary HT/8 A &)1 s B 7P
by the then shareholders BARINEINEE - - 900 (900) =
Capitalisation issue of shares B B AL (T 24(c) 6,000 (6,000) - - -
Issue of new shares BITHR 24(d) 2,000 123,000 - - 125,000
Share issue expenses BNBEITHS 24(d) = (13,833) - - (13,833)
Dividends paid to the then B HEHEL A
shareholders of subsidiaries R AR 2 12 = = = (50,000) (50,000)
At 31 March 2019 R2019%3H31H 8,000 103,167 18,900 108,609 238,676
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 SN |
F165h 22 2.2(a) = = = (3) (3)
At 1 April 2019 201954818
(restated) (&) 8,000 103,167 18,900 108,606 238,673
Profit and total comprehensive FREFREM
income for the year WA &% - - - 50,496 50,496
Final 2019 dividend declared EERAH019FKRE 12 - (11,200) - - (11,200)
At 31 March 2020 MR2020%3H31H 8,000 91,967 18,900 159,102 277,969
i These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$269,969,000 (2019: * ZFBROEGEE MISRARBERE 269,969,000
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HK$230,676,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Less than HK$500
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W// CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2020

HE20205F3 318 IEFE
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = THET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEHABESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R F5 BT A1) 60,351 46,634
Adjustments for: g
Finance costs BATS R AR 7 359 600
Interest income AEWA 6 (4,818) (2,584)
Other income HAb YA 9 =
Depreciation of propetry, plant VI - WERERETE
and equipment 8 2,663 1,181
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREESENE 8 3,230 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BRE REZBEE
plant and equipment B ZEE 8 4 63
61,780 45,894
Increase in contract assets and trade BREENKEZEWHIA
receivables N (88,708) (50,748)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, AR - Re RHEMER
deposits and other receivables IR, (GE ) 2,278 (1,8006)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B S RENFIEREMNREE
retention payables #m, Cld) 64,311 (1,514)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — EAbfEN FRIBRETE R
and accruals g Osd) (18,449) 61,457
Cash generated from operations KL EBFBRS 21,212 53,283
Interest portion of lease payments HERFHN2E D (198) =
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERNEEFES (17,097) (6,957)
Net cash flows from operating activities 4L & EENFTSIR & FHE 3,917 46,326
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GERERER
Year ended 31 March 2020
HZE2020F3A3 1R ILFE

2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B e THET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZBFERERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received BEHFE 4,818 2,584
Purchases of items of property, plant BEMZE - WERZEEE
and equipment 14 (6,365) (3,077)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - WERXEEB
property, plant and equipment Z S RIA 19 588
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits #EIFFFUR A, (35 0) (11,360) 5,836
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing R&EEFTE,(FiH)RE
activities R (12,788) 5,931
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEZHAERESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BATIRD 2 FT1S30E 24(d) = 125,000
Share issue expenses AR EEITHRX 24(d) - (13,833)
New bank loans FTIRITE 56,000 90,000
Repayment of bank loans BERRITER (66,000) (80,000)
Capital element of finance lease BERSHS MR
rental payments ERE S = (410)
Interest paid EFHE (161) (568)
Interest element of finance lease REREHS IR
rental payments MEE D - (32)
Principal portion of lease payments MENRAEE S (3,306) =
Repayment of a loan from a related BE—HEERT—FER
company = (8,500)
Dividends paid to the SRS ENEE L]
then shareholders of subsidiaries 850 = (50,000
Dividends paid BT (11,200) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing BY&EEBFTS,(FTH)IRE
activities R (24,667) 61,657
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEReERER
Year ended 31 March 2020
HZE2020F3A31HILFE
2020 2019
2020% 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BsE FHET T
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH R&RREZEYE M,
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ORd)#8E (33,538) 113,914
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#38 ¢ KIRESFEEY
of year 174,311 60,397
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EXRBERBEEEY
END OF YEAR 140,773 174,311
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH ReRASEEYEHZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i
Cash and bank balances B KIRTTA G4 18 35,047 29,423
Non-pledged time deposits with original R ERREIEHA DR
maturity of less than three months =18 B e IEE AR E B
when acquired 18 105,726 144,888
Cash and cash equivalents as stated HEMBIRR R RGER®
in the consolidated statement of mEXRMYzEeRES
financial position and consolidated ZEY
statement of cash flows 140,773 174,311
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IW// NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

86

B RS HRAR M EE

31 March 2020
202043 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 23 March 2018.
The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands. The principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong is located at Room 1801-1802, 18/F.,
Tung Hip Commercial Building, 244-252 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company's shares were listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 27 February 2019.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Group’s subsidiaries were principally engaged
in the provision of building construction and repair,
maintenance, alteration and addition (“RMAA") services.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the
Company is Triple Arch Limited, which is incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

Pursuant to the group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”)
as set out in the Company's prospectus dated 30 January
2019 for the public listing of the Company’s shares on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing”), the Company became the
holding company of the companies now comprising the
Group on 21 December 2018.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Issued
Place of incorporation/ ordinary share
Name registration and business capital

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

1. RARAEEER(E)

BERMEBARER
ARRMBAB ZFEWT

Percentage of equity Principal
attributable to the Company  activities

=L AL R BRTER ARREEREBD T TEEH
E 3R RERA
Direct Indirect
HiZ ke
Wecon Holdings (BVI) Limited* BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
EBRAHE ordinary REZER
17T
Wecon Limited Hong Kong HK$900,100 - 100 Provision of building
BIRRAT ) ordinary construction and
900, 1007 7T maintenance services
gl REEFTEER
RERT
Wecon Construction & Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100 Provision of building
Engineering Limited BB ordinary construction services
BIRERRAT 3,200,000/ 7 REEFEERE
Ep il

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst
& Young global network

* REEBLRKE M EBH A RE LK EFTAIE
TP BIRR A B T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

88

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

2.1 RBEE

ZEMBRRIDBERESFMLE
(IERETMAE RN BTBNHR
SEA(TERBMBHREERN]) (EFE
EBEEM B ME LR  BESEE
AT EBETTER D RERE)  FE
BREXN G RAANREE R BED
MIREREREL °

ZEVBHRRERIEE LKRAE PR
B ZEPBHRKRIAETES - AR
EREH  BRMAEBRENEER
BT uB(FET) -

Bame

e MBEHRERBEAEEE E202053
A31BIEFE 2 HBRE - BB ARIE
AAREEIEEZEN s ER(BES
BHEER) - WAKEEEBESEK
EZHIREHRAEORAEF - I
AR EHREAEENZERRS
BB AN EAREE N E RIS
BIREHRMAREZE)  BIREARE
EHEAREHRAIESE -

AR R B EEER DR
RZERZESIRLER - A
AHEER A HRAHIREHRAE
ER—EBEEERIBERN - B

E
5

#
;
\

)
ES
7

B M

(a) EREBEHRHMREFEANALD
ES7

(b) EMAHNTHEEZERN &

(0 AKENREENETREE -



2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. Profit or loss and each component of
other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

BIERERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

2.1 RBEE(E)

REEE(E)

BB 2~ R RO B 75 R TR B AR R IO AE
RHREMHE - NS ABRRRR - B
NAIZFEBARNEERGEG#E 2B
tﬁék% WHBEEZIERIERILE

o B M EAM EE R ABZEKELS
%ﬁ%ﬁmﬁ BIRA AN S
FEI5EE D - BE IR SRR
BY - MESEBERNEAEEKER
ZERNEEKRARE - #zm  W]A - F
I RBEREVRGEEAERE2EK
35 ©

WA FERBERBER Ll =TREH AR
RE RSN EHREE FEEEE
A EEEOHRELRABIEHIE -
I B BRI FIRE R B B A Bl 2 PR B
HESERIH AR

MARERELHMBE AT EZES - BIE
RIEBRONBARICEE(RERE)
REE - ()ERSEERER 2 REE X
(i ERP RSB RFEL =8 &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial

statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 9
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Leases

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 19 and
HKAS 28, and Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle, which are not relevant to the preparation of the

Group's financial statements, the nature and the impact of
the new HKFRSs are described below:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 @i BEREESE (£)

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (a) BMBBHBRELEAE 165

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model to recognise and measure right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain
recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under
HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating
or finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method with the date of initial application
of 1 April 2019. Under this method, the standard has
been applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits at 1 April 2019, and the
comparative information for 2019 was not restated and
continued to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued)

22 B BRRMBEEE(EF)

(a) BRAMEBUBHREERE1655(E)

92

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if
the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Group elected to use the transition practical expedient
allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under
HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed.
Therefore, the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16
has been applied only to contracts entered into or
changed on or after 1 April 2019.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

22 B BRRNBEEE(F)

(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued) (a) BRAMBEBUBHREERE1655(E)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its offices,
a staff quarter and a motor vehicle. As a lessee, the
Group previously classified leases as either finance
leases or operating leases based on the assessment
of whether the lease transferred substantially all the
rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group.
Under HKFRS 16, the Group applies a single approach
to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for all leases, except for two elective
exemptions for leases of low-value assets (elected on
a lease-by-lease basis) and leases with a lease term
of 12 months or less ("short-term leases") (elected
by class of underlying asset). Instead of recognising
rental expenses under operating leases on a straight-
line basis over the lease term commencing from 1
April 2019, the Group recognises depreciation (and
impairment, if any) of the right-of-use assets and
interest accrued on the outstanding lease liabilities (as
finance costs).

Impacts on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based
on the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at 1
April 2019 and included in lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

94

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(@) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases (continued)

Impacts on transition (continued)

The right-of-use assets were recognised based on
the carrying amount as if the standard had always
been applied, except for the incremental borrowing
rate at 1 April 2019. All these assets were assessed
for any impairment based on HKAS 36 on that date.
The Group elected to present the right-of-use assets
separately in the statement of financial position. This
includes the leased assets recognised previously under
finance leases of HK$1,684,000 that were reclassified
from property, plant and equipment.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

e Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12
months from the date of initial application;

e Using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend/
terminate the lease;

e Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics;

e Excluding initial direct costs from the measurement

of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 &3 BEREESH(Z)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued) (a) BRAMBEBUBHREERE1655(E)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as finance
leases

The Group did not change the initial carrying amounts
of recognised assets and liabilities at the date of initial
application for leases previously classified as finance
leases. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of the right-
of-use assets and the lease liabilities at 1 April 2019
were the carrying amounts of the recognised assets
and liabilities (i.e., finance lease payables) measured
under HKAS 17.

1EREBA - LD BEBMEM
EMHEE

RERDEAREHRENHEEM
o ASBRYERENERBHE
HEBREERBENVEER
B~ ALk B2019F4818 2 1&F
AEEERMEEEREBEARE
EASTERFITRAEZERE
REERBBEAENMEEER
18 ) BRE{E ©

Financial impact at 1 April 2019 R2019F4 8 1H By B &

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 at F2019F4 A1 8 B & 7 B %5 3R

1 April 2019 are as follows: ERANE1REENTENAT
HK$'000
FHET
Assets EE
Increase in right-of-use assets e B EERE N 2,579
Decrease in property, plant and equipment M - B KSR (1,684)
Increase in total assets 4B EEIE N 895
Liabilities aE
Increase in lease liabilities HEA G 1,957
Decrease in finance lease payables FET RYE T & R IR R (1,059)
Increase in total liabilities B E &N 898
Decrease in retained profits R BBt AR ©)

BIZRERDT  F#2019/2020 95



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 &3 BEREESH(Z)
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (continued) (a) FRNBBITEREERE165E(E)
Financial impact at 1 April 2019 (continued) TR2019F 4851 HMEI B/ & (/&)
The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the R2019F4A1BEMHEEABEER
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 are 201953 A3 A 2 EHEAER
as follows: HERWAT :

HK$'000
R
Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 201943831 K& ERSEE 2,497
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate FR20199F4 A1 B B INHE 35 & 5K
as at 1 April 2019 A= 3.55%
Discounted operating lease commitments 201954 A1 B 43R & @ H S A
as at 1 April 2019 2,334
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and & : E250 HATH & A& B 095 ¥& R & H3
those leases with a remaining lease term 7202093 A31 B 3k 2 B4R &Y
ended on or before 31 March 2020 HE) (1,961)
Add: Commitments relating to leases previously o BRESR D EAREREENEERE
classified as finance leases 1,059
Payments for optional extension periods not MR20195E3 A 31 B B RERIEE LT
recognised as at 31 March 2019 HAfTER 525
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R2019F4B1BEMNEERE 1,957
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 € BEREESE(Z)

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income by BB BREZREZTE

taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS
2 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies
outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties
The

interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an

associated with uncertain tax treatments.

entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately;
(i) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax
losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax
credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers
changes in facts and circumstances. Upon adoption
of the interpretation, the Group considered that the
interpretation did not have any impact on the financial

position or performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 23 EBEMEEAEMNBBHER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

98

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 16

PN =

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected

Definition of a Business'

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Insurance Contracts?®

Definition of Material'

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can
exist without including all of the inputs and processes needed
to create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead,
the focus is on whether acquired inputs and acquired
substantive processes together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The amendments have also
narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other
events that occur on or after the date of first application,
the Group will not be affected by these amendments on
the date of transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

100

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
the effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial
reporting. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which
enable hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020. Early application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that
the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the
nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
contract assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAS HHEMMZ)

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or
reducing balance basis to write off the cost of each item
of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for
this purpose are as follows:
Land and buildings Over the shorter of the lease

term and 25 years
Over the lease terms
20% on the reducing balance

Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
basis
Furniture, fixtures and 20% on the reducing balance
basis

20% on the reducing balance

office equipment
Motor vehicles
basis

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leased buildings Over the lease term

Motor vehicles 20% on the reducing balance basis

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EAS HHEMMZ)
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POLICIES (continued)
Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019) (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of offices (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of
scanners and copiers that are considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the
interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases are included in
property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (applicable before 1 April 2019) (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under
the operating leases are credited to the statement of profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in
the marketplace.

Initial recognition and classification of financial assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on their contractual cash flow characteristics and
the business model for managing the instruments. Financial
assets are classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI"”) (either with recycling to
profit or loss for debt instruments or without recycling to
profit or loss for equity investments). On initial recognition,
the Group measures a financial asset (unless it is a trade
receivable without a significant financial component that is
initially measured at the transaction price) at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. The transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and classification of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest.

The measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if they
meet both of the following conditions and are not
designated as at FVTPL:

e They are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

® The contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt investments at FVOCI

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of
the following conditions and is not designated at FVTPL:

e |t is held with a business model whose objective is
achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

® |ts contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Equity investments at FVOCI

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in the investment's fair value
in other comprehensive income. This election is made on

an investment by investment basis.
Financial assets at FVTPL

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL.
This included all derivative financial assets and equity
investments that are held for trading. On initial recognition,
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured
at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch
that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets are held for trading when they have been
purchased or issued primarily for short-term profit making
through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of
financial instruments that are managed together, for which
there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit
taking.

WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020

BEAETEEMM(E)

ERMEEE)

ZBAMEENAZ R -FIETIRIRE
RE

RIRERBLIEFIEE BN RERE
- NEBAET A MERERE - RE
EERAZINRERFEZRESZ
B o ERUERRE BEEEDL -

ZBEEE N FEIIERNEHBEE

FB I IR D FR R AR SH P AR ET B 3k
AUEBE M 2 E R AR A FENRN S
MEEYEBERRATEFE - BF
BREAETEEBEENRFHEEEMNR
BIRE - B FDERRRER D &5
o SN ENEHEXN A ESEBE
2 E WAL HEIRN SR EE -
7SR B) R] ) 25 T AR 5 L A R B
WIEE BB BBRREAFEIIR -

HMeMEEEREE RHEBENTE
BITIERHERN - BN —HFEENE
BTAEER 8D UEEBRBRI
HAERHENNRE  MeREESRK

(==



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at
fair value. Except for derivatives designated as hedging
instruments, changes in fair value are recognised as net
gains or losses in profit or loss. Interest and dividend
income are recognised as other income in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost

These financial assets (including loans and receivables) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on issued funds, and costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate (“EIR").

Debt investments at FVOCI

Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at
fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured
at fair value. Dividends are recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the Group's right to receive payments
is established unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of investment. Other net gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income
and cannot be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised
cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified at FVTPL
if it is held for trading, is a derivative or is designated as
such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
measured at fair value with net gains or losses, including
interest expenses, recognised in profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Financial guarantees contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) an expected credit
loss ("ECL"); and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Group does not reclassify its financial assets
subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the
exceptional circumstances in which the Group acquires,
disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial
liabilities are never reclassified. The Group did not reclassify
any of its financial assets or liabilities during the year.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified
and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially
different, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a
new liability. The difference between the respective carrying
value of the original financial liability and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9 requires the Group to record an allowance for
ECLs for financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt
instruments measured at FVOCI and contract assets as
defined in HKFRS 15.

The ECL allowance is based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to
the asset’s original EIR and other debt securities and bank
balances for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

For all contract assets (defined below) and trade
receivables, the Group has applied HKFRS 9's simplified
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

Other financial assets are assessed for impairment based on
12-month ECLs: 12-month ECLs are the portion of lifetime
ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period (or
a shorter period if the expected life of the asset is less than
12 months).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when the
contractual payment day is more than 1.5 years past due. As
the customers of the Group are mainly well-known property
developers, the Government and quasi-Government
organisations and there was no history of default in prior
years, the directors of the Company considered the default
rate is minimal. However, in certain cases, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Contract assets

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer
and assumes performance obligations to transfer goods
or provide services to the customer. A contract asset is
recognised when the Group has the right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer when that right is conditional on
something other than the passage of time (for example,
the Group's future performance). A contract asset becomes
a trade receivable when receipt of the consideration is
conditional only on the passage of time.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract assets (continued)

The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress and
have substantially the same characteristics as the trade
receivables for the same type of contracts. Impairment
policy for trade receivables as explained above also applies
to contract assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer for the services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown, net of
discounts. Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies
a performance obligation by transferring a promised good
or service (that is an asset) to a customer. An asset is
transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of
that asset; and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group's activities on the following bases:

(@) Revenue from construction contracts and RMAA
revenues are recognised when or as the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the
laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset
may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

() provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

(i) creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

(i) does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(@) (continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on direct
measurements of the value of individual services
transferred by the Group to the customer, such as
surveys of work performed, or contract milestones.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected
to be recovered.

For the RMAA services under term contracts where
the control of the asset is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the Group has
present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

For construction contracts and other RMAA services,
the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
or work in progress that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced and thus the Group
satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the work
certified up to the end of the reporting period as a
percentage of total contract value for each contract.

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the

lease terms.

(d) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Employee benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “"MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an
entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Claims to customers

Claims are amounts that the Group seeks to collect from
the customers as reimbursement for costs not included
in the contract price. The measurement of the amounts
of revenue arising from claims is subject to a high level
of uncertainty and often depends on the outcome of
negotiations. Therefore, judgement is made to determine
whether it is probable that the customers will accept the
claims and estimate the amount of claims to be accepted
by the customers in order to recognise such claims as
contract revenue.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Accounting for construction contracts

The Group has primary responsibility to fulfilment of the
contract and quality of the overall work and has discretion
in selecting subcontractors and determining the pricing for
subcontractors. Thus, the Group is acting as the principal
and recognises revenue on a gross basis. The Group's
revenue from construction contracts is recognised over time
using the output method and is measured in accordance
with the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations, which is measured based on
direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customers with reference to the certified value of
the work performed. The determination of the progress of
the construction service involves judgements. The Group
has quantity surveyors to periodically measure the value
of work performed for each construction project and the
work performed also certified by the customers’ quantity
surveyors.

Budgeted contract costs are prepared by the management
on the basis of contract concluded with and/or quotations
provided by major subcontractors, suppliers or vendors
involved from time to time, the experience of the
management and current market condition. The Group
reviews and revises the estimates of contract costs to
completion, variation orders and contract claims prepared
for each contract work as the contract progresses.
Significant judgement is required in estimating contract
costs to completion, variation works and contract claims
which may have an impact to the total outcome of the
contract and recognition of profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Impairment assessment for trade receivables and contract
assets

The policy for impairment of trade receivables and
contract assets of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectibility and ageing analysis of trade receivables and
contract assets as well as other quantitative and qualitative
information and the management calculated the lifetime
ECLs based on historical credit loss experience, and on
management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-
looking information. Management applied judgement and
estimates in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, based on the current creditworthiness, the
past collection history and subsequent settlements of each
customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of
their ability to make payments, additional provisions may
be required. Further details are disclosed in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Construction contracts; and
(b) RMAA

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before

tax.

The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group's profit before tax except that interest
income, rental income, government grant, sundry income,
loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation, including unallocated portion, exchange
differences, impairment of contract assets, impairment
of trade receivables, finance costs and unallocated head
office and corporate expenses, are excluded from such

measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, pledged deposits, time deposits and
cash and bank balances and other unallocated corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude an interest-bearing bank
borrowing, lease liabilities (2019: finance lease payables),
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT

(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

INFORMATION 5. &&o3ER(E)

DEFEE  BEERERS

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as FLELE2020F K2019F3A31H IEFE
provided to the Group’s key management personnel for the BRAE R EDHREMS @ MAE
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment EXr2EREABRKNAIEER 2R
performance for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 DEEREFIMT o

is set out below.

Construction contracts RMAA Total
BEEH EEREEIR &t
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

2020 20194 20205 20194 20205 201946
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TEL Tz TET TR THT

Segment revenue par: 6
Revenue from external customers RENDRP 2 Uz 968,006 787,552 235,995 193,037 1,204,001 980,589
Segment results PEEE 75,979 67,888 28,634 22,620 104,613 90,508
Interest income FIEMA 4,818 2,584
Rental income HEWA = 6
Government grant BB 297 -
Sundry income MBI 1,561 1,501
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE « HERRE

plant and equipment JERZEE (4) (63)
Depreciation, including unallocated  # & (BEADE S )

portion (5,505) (1,181)
Impairment of contract assets BHEERE (232) -
Impairment of trade receivables B S RYGIERE (24) -
Exchange differences, net RAETE OFHE ) (1,533)
Finance costs B (359) (600)

Unallocated head office and corporate AN ELAEE R b3

expenses 553 (44,812) (44,588)
Profit before tax BRI A& A 60,351 46,634
Income tax expense SRR S (9,855) (9,400)
Profit for the year ERRA 50,496 37,228
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Construction contracts
BEAY

2020 2019

20204 20195

HK$'000  HK$'000

RepRER(E)

DEEE  BEREERE)

RMAA Total
REREBIR &t
2020 2019 2020 2019

2020 20194 20205 20194
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

FEx TAT FER FAT TARL THET

Segment assets and liabilities SBEERER
Segment assets NEEE 304,473 232924 78,855 64960 383,328 297,884
Unallocated KO 191,706 203,194
575,034 501,078
Segment liabilities AHERE 236,953 212,580 46,826 27,253 283,779 239,833
Unallocated AAHEE 13,286 22,569

297,065 262,402

Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group’'s revenue was generated
from the sales in Hong Kong and over 90% of the Group's
identifiable non-current assets were located in Hong Kong,
no geographical information in accordance with HKFRS 8
Operating Segments is presented.

Information about major customers
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for

10% or more of the Group's revenue for each of the years,
is set out below:

& AR

fh 3 7 B BB 90% O M 26 2 3 WA
WS + B S EARIBO0%) T 3 B
RBAECRES - Bl MIRRE S
B 76 0 R B AE 5 A2 TR
B o

BFRETERFHNER

REF  RESETEFPIEARE RS
10% 3 A LR RS EPI AT

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Customer A EPA 411,154 N/A R iEA*

Customer B =FB 186,685 306,033

Customer C ZEC 178,658 N/A i

Customer D %FD 161,283 156,711

Customer E BFE N/A 38 fA* 177,759
@ The corresponding revenues from these customers are not disclosed as the * BNz ER P REZE20206F % 20194638318 |LF
fevenue Smedniéigdu%@ dlid not sccount for 105% or mre of the Group's revenue for ol S RE o B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS SR R MY &
31 March 2020
2020F3A31H
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Wk HAMWMAR K=
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows: REBMWZEITAT :
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT T
Revenue from contracts with customers REFFAHNHWE
Construction contracts BESH 968,006 787,552
RMAA RERHEETIE 235,995 193,037
1,204,001 980,589
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFSHHIWRES

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 March 2020

() W7 HEH

BZE2020F3A31HLLFE

Construction
Segments contracts RMAA Total
pan:i BEESH HEREEBIR &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET FET
Type of services PR 38 5l
Construction services BiERT 968,006 = 968,006
RMAA KEMGETRE - 235,995 235,995
Total revenue from contracts with K B & F A LM RAIK
customers 968,006 235,995 1,204,001
Timing of revenue recognition W 2 e SR By
Over time —REHE 968,006 41,174 1,009,180
Point in time KR - 194,821 194,821
Total revenue from contracts with K B & F & £ R
customers 968,006 235,995 1,204,001
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31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WEREMIKARWKE(Z)
(continued)

134

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019

REAFFANNWE (&)

(i)

Wz 7 FHEF ()

HE20195F3831HILFE

Construction

Segments contracts RMAA Total
pan:i BESH) REREEIR A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT
Type of services PR %5 2 B
Construction services EERRTS 787,552 = 787,552
RMAA KEREETRR - 193,037 193,037
Total revenue from contracts with 2RE R F &AM B K =
customers 787,552 193,037 980,589
Timing of revenue recognition Uiy 2 e 5 F )
Over time —EREfER 787,552 22,746 810,298
Point in time R BRI - 170,291 170,291
Total revenue from contracts with 2RE &P & AR B =
customers 787,552 193,037 980,589
Performance obligations (i) BHEME

For the construction contracts and RMAA services
using the output method, the construction and
refurbishment of buildings is a single performance
obligation that the Group satisfies over time. The
construction period varies from 1.5 years to 3 years.
As at 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining obligation
was HK$1,655,118,000 (2019: HK$2,212,730,000), and
the Group will recognise this revenue in future when
the buildings are completed, which are expected to
occur over the next 12 to 36 months.
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HEABLENEESNREER
wEIREREMES EFEERD
FAAEETERBITHNE—BHE
Fo BEMAISERIETE I
2020%F3A310 PEEEHRTTENE
E R 5 [E 1% 4858 51,655,118,000
7T (20194:2,212,730,00058 7T)
REBBRETRIETKRE(TEEA
RIR12ZE 3606 AR) R Bl E o



REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(i) Performance obligations (continued)

For the RMAA services under term contracts, the
performance obligation is satisfied upon the transfer
of control of the asset. The Group applies the practical
expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and does not
disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated
to the remaining performance obligations for contracts
with an original expected duration of one year or less.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

6. WamkHMKARYEE)

REFEFENHIWE(E)
(i) BAIEE(E)

SEHRA A THREREETRRR
BmE @ BROEERNEEEEZE
ERETT - AEBERAEBVHER
HERBFEISREI2IRNAITHEE
% BYERBESRESR TR
BETHE A —F A THEKELD
BEENRHEREHE -

Other income and gains HAb WA K U 5
2020 2019
2020% 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Interest income arising from loans to EFXBRHTIBEENERK

subcontractors and bank deposits RITIF R B WA 4,818 2,584
Rental income GEEAON = 6
Government grant* BT B> 297 -
Sundry income FETEUA 1,561 1,501
6,676 4,091

* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to this income.

FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of the Group's finance costs is as follows:

* HZEWALEERRERNIGEHRKAEBR -
7. BIEERA
AEBNBBERASTOT

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Interest on bank borrowings ERITHERNR 161 568
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEN R 198 -
Interest on finance leases REREF B = 32
359 600
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B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

BR Bt A2 7

AEEBRBADEN TG, GEA) T

(crediting): FIREFTHE ¢
2020 2019
20205 20194F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B e FHET FATT
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERREITE
and equipment 14 2,663 1,181
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f{§ FIREE T E 15(a) 3,230 -
Auditor’s remuneration % LR B <& 1,200 1,300
Employee benefit expense EERMFAX(TEEES
(excluding directors’ Bl (P45E9) ) - *
remuneration (note 9)):*
Wages and salaries ITEREHS 86,434 73,264
Pension scheme contributions RRSFEERCEREER
(defined contribution scheme) sTEl) 3,402 2,828
89,836 76,092
Minimum lease payments under  ZEREE FHHEHEE
operating leases (NN = 3,492
Lease payments not included Pt AEAGEFEZHE
in the measurement of lease (NE:N
liabilities 2,664 -
Other charges in respect of rental HEFAEWE 2 B E
premises 237 133
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - WEEXBEB
property, plant and equipment 2 518 4 63
Exchange differences, net HIRER - FE 2 1,533
Impairment of contract assets SHEBERE 232 =
Impairment of trade receivables % 5 fE W ZUIERIE 24 -
Provision for legal fees and claims A2 &R K RERE 1,367 -
Listing expenses EmRAX - 13,134

* 5t A 88 65 B AR 1O 48 B 48 7 F 52 569,173,000 7T

* The employee benefit expense included in cost of sales was HK$69,173,000 (2019: 18 1
(20194 : 59,675,000/ 7T) ©

HK$59,675,000).
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31 March 2020

2020%3A318

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESTHRAEHH
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, B MR - BN BHEHIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (@~ (b) (RMERLR(HEES=F
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and AR REDIE2EITHBENAFEEES
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about M= TIRA EFHEan T ¢

Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Fees &H 560 50
Other emoluments: HAohrm
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EREYMET
in kind 3,510 2,933
Discretionary bonuses BEIEAL 2,000 -
Pension scheme contributions RSB CERER
(defined contribution scheme) =&l 263 215
5,773 3,148
6,333 3,198
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FARARNBULIFRTEETNR S
during the year were as follows: i
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Dr. Lau Chi Keung ZEoeiE L 180 16
Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond RN S 4 180 16
Mr. Sze Kwok Wing Nigel MR SR A 200 18
560 50
Dr. Lau Chi Keung, Mr. Chan Tim Yiu Raymond and Mr. RIS L+ - BRI & KRR
Sze Kwok Wing Nigel were appointed as independent FER2019F1A2NBBEZERAR
non-executive directors of the Company on 21 January NRAVBNIFRITES -
2019.
There were no other emoluments payable to the FARERNBUIFNTESTNH
independent non-executive directors during the year & (20194 : &) -
(2019: Nil).
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31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERESTTHRAEHM(Z
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HITEERRSTHAE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2UR BikestE
EH BUEF BBTEAL = HENAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FTHERT FTHET FTHET
2020 20204
Executive directors: HITES :
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip* BRI = 1,950 1,000 162 3,112
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip** S A3 36 S A %k = 910 600 59 1,569
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry** S A3 {8 i A xx = 650 400 42 1,092
- 3,510 2,000 263 5,773
2019 20194
Executive directors: WITES :
Mr. Tsang Ka Yip* BRE ST = 1,757 - 146 1,903
Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip** DRETR ST - 658 - 42 700
Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry** DRI A - 518 - 27 545
- 2,933 - 215 3,148
* Mr. Tsang Ka Yip is the executive director and the chief executive officer * BREZERBADRRPTESRITHRAEE -
of the Company.
*x Mr. Tsang Tsz Him Philip and Mr. Tsang Tsz Kit Jerry were appointed as R SR N B RS AR 20186 A 258
executive directors of the Company on 25 June 2018. BZERRRBMITES -
There was no arrangement under which a director RERNBE SRR EREEMA
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during ¥z 28 (20194 : &) -

the year (2019: Nil).
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B R R R Mt
31 March 2020
2020%3A318
10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10. ABREHAL
The five highest paid employees during the year ended 31 HZE2020F3A3MBLLFE  Ak&m
March 2020 included two directors of the Company (2019: FMNEEBIEAARIMNMEEE(2019
one), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 F o —F) HFMFBIHN EXWE
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three 9o HER=2(2019F | B )FEFR
(2019: four) non-director and non-chief executive highest EESITHRAERSHHNEENRERNZ
paid employees for the year are as follows: FNFISETIT
2020 2019
2020% 20194F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Salaries, housing allowances, other & « EEZ8, « Efb)=285
allowances and benefits in kind REYEH 7,311 6,971
Pension scheme contributions RIKES TR 110 125
7,421 7,096
The number of the non-director and non-chief executive FME Ty SEEANCIFEERIEERSTT
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the BABZ=HMES ABHIIMT

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EE&A
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2 1,500,000/ 7T - 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7L 2 2,000,000/5 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 752 2,500,000/ 7T =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 754 3,000,000/ 7T 1
4
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group FA - AEESEAZFEERIERTT
to any of the non-director and non-chief executive highest BAB&RSHMIES S HMIERRS
paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining INAZRE BN AZ & B R B 52 B sk 1
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2019: Nil). REEBAE (2019F - &) -

BIERERAT
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31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

11. INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman lIslands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has
been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a
qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000) of estimated assessable
profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining
estimated assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

11. Fr8%

REFEHENEBRIES ZHAIR
Mbl - AEBBEHANFAERE MR
BRAZBEBEMAMENR -  BENEH

TEFRAEERBEL 2

AT R B&

R AT = 16.5% (20194F : 16.5%) 5112
B AEE—HHBARKI
H 52018/2019:8 Tt F € #8 £ U A 13

B EH T GBS

BN

7] 2 [ 5T B &R & & F B 2,000,000/ 7T
(20194 : 2,000,000 7T ) A R 8.25%
R T B BR AV (AT R AR B A Bl A TR

R16.5%E U -

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET BT

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year 9,826 9,604
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBRERE (153) (354)
Deferred (note 23) RIERRIE (FfH3E23) 182 156
Total tax charge for the year FABIAAS N 9,855 9,406

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense at the

BORFEN R AT E 2 BB A M3 A A 3R
B ERBERRRGTE 2R HA

effective tax rate is as follows: HERWT -
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Profit before tax 60,351 46,634
Tax at the statutory tax rate RAEBERFENTIE 9,958 7,695
Concession under the two-tiered rates ~ — T R TEYE IR (165) (165)
Income not subject to tax BRI A (480) (84)
Expenses not deductible for tax ARl Y 706 2,492
Adjustments in respect of current tax of @ EARIAYBNEARL I8
previous periods (153) (354)
Others (11) (178)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax ZAREEERHEXTEATIE
rate 9,855 9,406
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31
March 2019 of HK1.4 cents per share, in an aggregate
amount of HK$11,200,000, was paid during the year ended
31 March 2020.

Final dividend of HK1.9 cents per share, in an aggregate
amount of HK$15,200,000, has been proposed by the
directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
These financial statements do not reflect the final dividend
payable.

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and before the
completion of the Reorganisation, certain subsidiaries of
the Group declared interim dividends of HK$50,000,000
to their then shareholders. Such interim dividends were
paid during the year ended 31 March 2019. Investors who
became the shareholders of the Company after the Listing
were not entitled to such interim dividends.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company of HK$50,496,000 (2019: HK$37,228,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
800,000,000 (2019: 618,082,192) in issue during the year.
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the calculation of basic
earnings per share amount is based on the assumption
that the capitalisation issue and the Reorganisation in
connection with the listing of the Company had been
completed on 1 April 2017.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic earnings per share amount for the year
ended 31 March 2019 included 100 ordinary shares of the
Company issued on the date of incorporation, 5 ordinary
shares of the Company issued upon the completion of the
Reorganisation (note 24(b)(ii)) and 599,999,895 ordinary
shares issued pursuant to the capitalisation issue (note
24(c)), on the assumptions that all these shares had been in
issue throughout the year ended 31 March 2019, and the
weighted average number of 200,000,000 ordinary shares
issued in connection with the Listing (note 24(d)).

12.

13.

BIERERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

RE

H 22019F3A3IB LB EFEE 2 K
HEEAERIAEN a8
11,200,000/ 7t * E R & £2020F3 8
3MBIEFEIRR ©

ARREFERRERBEEK9
Al - & H 2 %815,200,000/8 7T * HEER
RN ERERRBFASG LHE - Z
FHBHRRILERREN RIS

HE2019F3A31H IEFE REATK
Al AEBE THEB A RAKE SRR
B = k50,000,000 7T &9 & BRI 2. © 3%
S HARE SR A 22019F3A31H IEF
A - REMBKABARRFIIRERD
REEBREZEZETHRE -

RAREHEFAARGEESREF

TESRERZF 2 EIIENRARA R
=15 AL F R 750,496,000
TE(20194F : 37,228,0005% 7T ) LA R EE A
B2 8 17 3 38 % h0#& -39 £:800,000,000
f% (20194 : 618,082,192/ )~ # =
2019F3A3MBIEFE @ sTESRER
BF 2z B ENMRRE AL 31T R
AR EMEBEHEHRER2017F4A4
1B °

HE2019F3A31H ILFE - AtEstE
BREARF SR LB INEFIH
BFER M B 812 217 100R% A
ARIERE - REHTKEE ZEITHS
&% A 2 7] 3 38 B (B sE24(b) (i) AR 15
B AR BT E 317 H599,999,895% I
BRR(MTE24(c)  BRRFTBZERD
R2019F3831B L FEE T KHE
FHARBERITEBRINETSE A
200,000,0000% (B 5E24(d)) °
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31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 13. ZXARIEREEEAEEERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued) (#&

B £20204F K% 2019F3A310 L FE -
ANEBYEALBEEEYENDRITYE
il

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERRE

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Land and Leasehold and and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
HE & £ER
THhREF NEkE  BHERRE BaRtE "B ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR
31 March 2020 2020%3A31H
At 1 April 2019 (restated): R2019F4R 1R (KEF) -
Cost A 900 1,432 1,382 4,101 4,221 12,036
Accumulated depreciation e (900) (1,432) (490) (1,570) (2,497) (6,889)
Net carrying amount EHFE = = 892 2,531 1,724 5,147
At 31 March 2019, net of 1201938318
accumulated depreciation REHTE - - 892 2,531 3,408 6,831
Effects of adoption of HKFRS 16 RAEBMBaEER
F16ML 2 = = = = (1,684) (1,684)
At 1 April 2019, net of 1201954R18 -
accumulated depreciation (restated) HEHTE (E&5) - - 892 2,531 1,724 5,147
Additions NE - 2,216 832 2,703 614 6,365
Disposals HE - - - - (123) (123)
Depreciation provided for the year FRTERE - (1,149) (263) (835) (416) (2,663)
At 31 March 2020, net of 120206348318
accumulated depreciation REFTE S 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726
At 31 March 2020: 12020%3A318 :
Cost KA 900 3,648 2,214 6,804 4,282 17,848
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (900) (2,581) (753) (2,405) (2,483) (9,122)
Net carrying amount RAFE - 1,067 1,461 4,399 1,799 8,726
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31 March 2020
2020%3A318

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 14. Y% - WMERKRE(E)

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
Land and Leasehold and and office Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
HE FA RER
T REF NxREE  ERERE HRRE nE ast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T

31 March 2019 2019€3A31H
At 1 April 2018: R2018%4R1R

Cost R 900 1432 690 2274 5836 11,132

Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (900) (1432) (359) (1,259) (3,065) (7,015)

Net carrying amount FHFE - - 331 1,015 2771 4117
At 1 April 2018, net of R20185F4A1R -

accumulated depreciation HETE - - 331 1,015 2,771 4117
Additions NE - - 692 1,827 2,027 4546
Disposals e - - - - (651) (651)
Depreciation provided for the year FRTERE - - (131) (311) (739) (1,181)
At 31 March 2019, net of 12019E3A318

accumulated depreciation RETE - - 892 2,531 3,408 6,831
At 31 March 2019: M2019%3A318 :

Cost R 900 1432 1382 4,101 6,245 14,060

Accumulated depreciation 2itiE (900) (1,432) (490) (1,570) (2.837) (7.229)

Net carrying amount EHFE - - 892 2,531 3,408 6,831
The net carrying amount of the Group's items of property, AEERBEEERFTNYE  BEKR
plant and equipment held under finance lease included in FAEIEB 2 BREFEFT A201963H31
the total amount of motor vehicles as at 31 March 2019 was HHE))TERTE - © 541,684,000 7T
approximately HK$1,684,000 (note 15). (Bds¥E15)
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15. LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain of its offices, a
staff quarter and a motor vehicle. Leases of offices and the
staff quarter generally have lease terms of 2 years, while the
motor vehicle generally has lease term of 3 years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension and termination options
which are further discussed below.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

15. #HE

REBEEREBEA

AEEREETHAE  —ERERES
R—WAEITAHEERLN - HAENE
BEEEHE—RAF  mAEiEE
—RAHRFE - —KWE  AEENE
REEEESAXEEHEAKESL -
ETESERIKLEHOEENHES
KB T XCE— Rt ©

(a) EREEE

AEE FRREENENNEE
EREZHMT :

Leased buildings Motor vehicle Total

HEERT E &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR THEL THET

As at 1 April 2019 ®201954R18 895 1,684 2,579
Additions NE 8,967 - 8,967
Depreciation charge FESH (2,923) (307) (3,230)
Termination of leases RERIE (507) = (507)
As at 31 March 2020 120203 A31H 6,432 1,377 7,809
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15. LEASES (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

15. HE (&)
b) HEAERE

HERBERFANKREENEED)

movements during the year are as follows: N
2020 2019
Lease Finance lease
liabilities payables
20204 20194
HESE ENREHESETE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Carrying amount at beginning of year RE¥AIIRAEE 1,957 =
New leases S 8,967 1,469
Accretion of interest recognised F AR ZIEF] S
during the year 198 32
Termination of leases MERKIE (516) =
Payments I(NEN (3,504) (442)
Carrying amount at end of year R ERH BRE B 7,102 1,059
Analysed into: DITR
Current portion T ENEL 4,994 461
Non-current portion FEMEE D 2,108 598

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities (2019: finance

lease payables) is disclosed in note 32 to the financial

statements.

AEREC0E  BNRERE
2OR) P58 B S TR BT B B RM
HE32NRE -
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B RS R R T =E
31 March 2020
20209 3A31H
15. LEASES (continued) 15. #HE(2)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to () BMEERBRAERHNSFEAT

leases are as follows:

2020
20204
HK$'000
FAT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 198
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EREEENFTES D 3,230
Expense relating to short-term leases and other EEARHEERFAEEHRN
leases with remaining lease terms ended on or 20204F3 A31 B3k 2 A4 SRV H
before 31 March 2020 b E 8 =
— Included in cost of sales — St ASHER A 373
— Included in administrative expenses and other —FFAITER 2 % H A & B
operating expenses 2,291
2,664
Total amount recognised in profit or loss PR AR 5 6,092
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HERIRS T HHRTEE M EREK M
27(c) to the financial statements. 27 ()R EE o
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16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B R R R M EE

31 March 2020

2020%3A318

16. ENEENEZ EBWRIA

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Other contract assets HEMENEE 23,885 10,200
Retention receivables FEWIREE & 69,834 63,583
93,719 74,483

Impairment of contract assets SRBERE (232) =
Net contract assets BHEEFR 93,487 74,483
Trade receivables B 5 e WA 241,264 171,536
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 WA R E (24) =
Net trade receivables B SR IEF5E 241,240 171,536
334,727 246,019

Other contract assets consist of the Group’s rights
to consideration for works completed but unbilled
amounts resulting from construction contracts and
RMAA. Other contract assets are transferred to trade
receivables when the rights become unconditional
which was generally one to three months. Other
contract assets increased as at 31 March 2020 due to
an increase in the ongoing provision of construction
services at the end of the year.

() HEtbeMEEBRAREAET
X TRIEE R ERERFAZERDN
FIR(ARES QU MEE R EE
TREMEL) - REMRREEM

‘RBER—Z=EA)

B A

MEEEREEHRIGUR - 2
BREER2020F3A31 8GN T5
B IR R R SR AR 45 AR B DO T

By o
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31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(b)

148

Retention receivables are part of the consideration that
the customers retain which are payable on successful
completion of the contracts in order to provide the
customers with assurance that the Group will complete
its obligation satisfactorily under the contracts, rather
than to provide financing to the customers. At 31
March 2020, retention receivables are repayable
within terms ranging from one to two years. Included
in the retention receivables, HK$20,121,000 (2019:
HK$20,725,000) were expected to be recovered after
more than one year. Retention receivables, amounting
to HK$49,713,000 (2019: HK$42,858,000), are expected
to be recovered within twelve months. Retention
receivables increased as at 31 March 2020 since there
were more completed contracts.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of contract assets are as follows:

16. ENEENREZBWRIER(E)

(b)

FRREEA/BEFRENT SR
B HERAKNEKAEHNRKX
- ARBEFPREAEEGIEZE
HEMTKRELOEE - MIEAMNU
MEFIRHERE - R2020F3 731
H BURABELER—EZMFAE
& o Hep - EIIREE £20,121,000
77T (20194F : 20,725,000/ 7T ) #
AR —F LA LI E - BUWIRE S
49,713,0007% 7T (20194 : 42,858,000
BT TEEE R+ @A AWkE -
BRBEZDTKEL « BEKKR
B 202063 A31 B AR -

BREERENERREESN
T

7

2020

20204

HK$'000

THET

At beginning of year F1) =
Impairment losses (note 8) R EEE (HizEs ) 232
At end of year FR 232
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16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(c)

(continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected
credit losses. The provision rates for the measurement
of the expected credit losses of the contract assets are
based on those of the trade receivables as the contract
assets and the trade receivables are from the same
customer bases. The provision rates of contract assets
are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
customer type and rating). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a
provision matrix:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. ENEENREZEBUE

B R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

RIE (&)

(%)

BED TR SRS B EERRER
@tﬁ UETEREEEEE - &

BREENE ZHRKFIERER
—%ﬁ BB EABETREES
BEENBEXHENE 5 EWKIE
WBEX - aNEENBHEHE
\/\E*EMEETEE‘ZT(EW ]
RAFTR) TR F 5 &5 E
BEAR B o Zat E R R IR A
R 2BEREEENAENRE B
ASHERBESEE - BRlEE R
RGBT EGIERAIFEE
¥} o

T HFIE A EEA N AR
BREE R AN EERRE
¥

2020

2020%F

Expected credit loss rate BEEEEEX 0.25%

Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) HEERmEE ( FExT) 93,719

Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHEEEE (T8 T) 232
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

150

(d) The transaction price allocated to the remaining

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period
related to construction contracts and RMAA services
using the output method.

16. ENEEREZBYKREGE)

(d

RBERRDEEZHR TEOEME
(RETREFDREIT)NRHE
REE R ENZEA O REE
NgETRREERE

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Expected to be recognised TREER—FR
within one year R 1,150,527 1,099,469
Expected to be recognised TEERR N — 1%
after one year TR 504,591 1,113,261
1,655,118 2,212,730

For RMAA under term contracts, the Group recognises
revenue equal to the right to invoice amount when
the control of assets or the value of individual services
transfer to the customers at a point in time. The
Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 and does not disclose the amount
of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with an original
expected duration of one year or less.

Included in the revenue recognised during the year,

HK$4,508,000 (2019: HK$4,865,000) was related to
performance obligations satisfied in previous periods.
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5 REERHIESERRGHE
BERRE-BHHEBBEERP K&
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16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(f)

Trade receivables represented receivables for
contract work. Management generally submit interim
payment applications to customers on a monthly basis
containing a statement setting out management'’s
estimation of the valuation of the works completed
in the preceding month. Upon receiving the interim
payment application, the architect or the consultant
of the customer will verify such valuation of works
completed and issue an interim payment certificate
within 30 days. Within 30 days after the issuance of the
interim payment certificate, the customer will make
payment to the Group based on the certified amount
stipulated in such certificate, deducting any retention
money in accordance with the contract.

There is a certain concentration of credit risk. The
balances of the five largest trade receivables at 31
March 2020 and 2019 represented 85.1% and 82.5% of
the total trade receivables, respectively, while 59.0%
and 44.3% of the total trade receivables were due
from the largest trade receivable, respectively. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on
the invoice date and net of provision, is as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

16. ENEENREZBWRIEA(E)

B 5 RUGKAIEE A TI2M B
B BEE-REZANTFER
RHIN R BEREE—MHER
48 E—EAMTkr TRAE
RBHEE - RETHNRBEER &
F ey 2 SEEN S BRI 1S & X B T TR
MIREEMEBGE  LEOK
NELPHRNRES - EFPKE
A E o B SR E E1R30KR A
RERABIEETMIICRENZ
BOEMBREARBESONRES
BIMAREBELAR -

FEETEFREFEERR - 72020
FN2019F3A31H - RKEAKE
SR IEES D RIMEE 5 B
TE 48 %885.1% 8.82.5% * T K B &
RNE S REWFIBES G E 5 EIGK
TH 48 5859.0% % 44.3% - B 5 e
RIETETE o

RIBHZ R REE 5 RUGEIR NN
BREBEORREDITIOT

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Trade receivables: B 5 EWFIE

Within 90 days 90RA 238,214 169,278
91 to 180 days 912 180K 1,172 1,493
181 to 365 days 1812365k 1,606 172
Over 365 days HBIA3I65K 248 593
241,240 171,536
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

16. CONTRACT ASSETS AND TRADE RECEIVABLES
(continued)

(f)  (continued)

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9 which permits the
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. The ECL rate for the Group's trade
receivables is minimal for all the above bands of trade
receivables.

17. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

16. ENEENREZBWRIEA(E)

(%)

AREBRABICITEANE BV R
SRRNFIRAENTRAEEBE
AHIERME - ZERA AR S
JE WU IR £ P &R T 4 A TR A S 1R 13
o AEENE S RUGRIRTABIE
EEEXE DA SBNE S E
WORIR T 5 RIE

17. ERRIE - e R HMEWFIE

2020 2019
2020 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Prepayments TR RIE 19,080 21,009
Deposits and other receivables e M E b e U I8 32,046 32,395
51,126 53,404

Less: Prepayments and deposits B DBERIERBEEZ
classified as non-current assets AN RIEREZE (6,331) (3,492)
Current portion mENER D 44,795 49,912

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts. As at 31 March 2020 and
2019, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
Included in other receivables are loans to subcontractors of
HK$27,965,000 (2019: HK$29,043,000) as at 31 March 2020,
which are unsecured, bear interest at 7% per annum or
interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B TS ERAR M EE
31 March 2020
20209 3A31H
18. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 18. BE RBRITEER
2020 2019
20204 20194
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FHTT
Cash and bank balances & RERITAEER 35,047 29,423
Bepesls % 137,599 165,401
172,646 194,824
Less: Pledged deposits o EIRER 21(a), 21(c), 26 (31,873) (20,513)
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREERBY 140,773 174,311
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on IRITIRESRE BIRITERN ELAZE A
daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for ¥§+5 o EMTFRAIERE3IB®A D
varying periods of between 1 months and 3 months, and * 1R B T HAE RN R R AN 2, - 3R
earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank R R ERFR BT BE N SNE
balances and deposits are deposited with creditworthy %Eﬁﬁﬁﬂ °
banks with no recent history of default.
19. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES 19. EZEAREBERENRES
An ageing analysis of the trade and retention payables as RMERRREZAHZEINE HEN
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice FHAENEMRECERE DTN ¢
date, is as follows:
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Trade payables: 2 SN FRIE
Within 3 months 3EARA 120,664 64,424
4 to 6 months 4268 R = 1
Over 6 months HRiBofE A - 18
120,664 64,443
Retention payables JERHRE 62,542 54,452
183,206 118,895
Retention payables were normally settled within terms ERAEREE— R —EWMFEANES -
ranging from one to two years.
Trade and retention payables are non-interest-bearing. BIORNRERENREBETEE - B
The payment terms of trade payables are stipulated in the SR REZTIERINBRBBRE ?’]
relevant contracts with credit periods of 30 days in general. N EEB—RRBIOK -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R T =E
31 March 2020
20209 3A31H
20. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. Htt R KRB R ETE A
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FABT
Other payables H e RRIR 730 758
Accruals BB 104,844 123,265
105,574 124,023
Financial liabilities of HK$70,325,000 (2019: HK$38,074,000) 202053 A31H © 70,325,000/8 7T
as at 31 March 2020 included in other payables and (20194 : 38,074,000/ 7T ) 5 A EAth
accruals are non-interest-bearing and are expected to be BN RIEREERN SR B E T
settled within one year. B EHR—FRER -

21. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 21.:tESBITREMMER
BORROWINGS

The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of the REBETBRITREMERITAT -

Group are analysed as follows:

31 March 2020 1 April 2019 31 March 2019
2020%3A318 201954418 201943R318
Contractual Contractual
interest rate interest rate
BRFE HK$'000 HK$'000 B HK$'000
(%) TR T (%) TET
Current RE
Lease liabilities (note 15(b) HERE(E15b)) HIBOR+1 iE3% 4,994 959 N/ATER -
H%%ﬁgﬂ.;’}o
Finance lease payables (note 22) FErRERERE(H2) N/A FER = - 34% 461
Bank loan - secured RITEN - RER N/A TER - 10,000  HIBOR+1.3% 10,000
BRI
RIZEHFE+1.3%
4,994 10,959 10,461
Non-current FRE
Lease liabilities (note 15(o) RERRE(HEE15b)) HIBOR+1 iE3% 2,108 998 N/ATER -
REREAT %
Finance lease payables (note 22) FErRERERE(HH2) N/A FER = - 3.4% 598
2,108 998 598
7,102 11,957 11,059
The Group's term loan of HK$10,000,000 as at 31 March 2019 contained a repayment A& ER 2019473 A 31 H B9 5E 83 B 510,000,000 7T bt 5
on demand clause and is repayable within one year. REKERIERAR—FNEE -
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21.

22.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2020, certain bank facilities were secured by pledged deposits of
HK$15,500,000.

As at 31 March 2019, the bank loan was guaranteed by the Company, Wecon
Limited and Wecon Construction & Engineering Limited.

(c) As at 31 March 2019, the bank loan and certain bank facilities were secured by
pledged deposits of HK$15,513,000.

The carrying amount of the bank borrowing approximates to its fair value.
(e) The Group's bank loan is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(f) For other bank facilities, please refer to note 26.

FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES

The Group leases its vehicle for its business operations
(note 15(b)). The lease was classified as finance lease prior
to HKFRS 16 becoming effective on 1 April 2019 and had a
remaining lease term of three years.

At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments
under finance lease and their present values were as
follows:

21.

22.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

M20205F3A31H - & T R 17 B & A 1K | 17 3K

15,500,000/ TLHEAR ©
M2019F3H31H @ RITER

HAAQR  BIAR

AR RETRERRAAER

$A201943 4318 - FITER
FE3K15,513,000/ TR ©

HMETRITRE BK

RITEFR 2 REERE N FERE

AEBRITEFIABITTEE ©
BRAEMRITARE

EAREEERE

AEBAEXKEERRRB(HF
15(b)) - HEEB B EREERIF16
BRN2019F4AB 1B AR D B ARE
HE $pTTHERA=F -

A2 RIBE26 ©

R201943A31R - MEMREHRE T2
ARZEMEFARERARENT ¢

Present
Minimum value of
lease minimum lease
payments payments
43y REHRE
&R HEZRE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THBT
Amounts payable: JERTEE :
Within one year —FR 490 461
In the second year F-F 490 477
In the third to fifth years, F=FEZZRF
inclusive (EERME) 122 121
Total minimum finance lease payments REREHENELE 1,102 1,059
Future finance charges ARBEER (43)
Total net finance lease payables PR R A SR A 1,059
Portion classified as current liabilities SBEAERBEESD (461)
Non-current portion FnEHH 598
BEIZERERAR  F32019/2020 155



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

23.

24.

DEFERRED TAX

The deferred tax liabilities recognised in the consolidated

statement of financial position and the movements during

the year are as follows:

23. IR IR

REA B BIRR = R BT BIES &
BRERNZHNT :

Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE
Depreciation
allowance in
excess of related
depreciation
HHEETE
KT ERA
HK$'000
FTHERT
At 1 April 2018 MK2018F4H1H 476
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss FRNEERTHRA
during the year (note 11) RIERIE (M EE11) 156
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R2019F3 H31H &2019F4 H1H 632
Deferred tax charged to profit or loss FABERPHRD
during the year (note 11) FEIEFETE (FI5E11) 182
At 31 March 2020 MR202063H31H 814
SHARE CAPITAL 24. B
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET R
Authorised: EE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,0000% & I& E (&
HK$0.01 each 0.018 TR T AR 50,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BT R
800,000,000 ordinary shares of 800,000,000% & I El &
HK$0.01 each 0.0 TR & i AR 8,000 8,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA SRR M RE
31 March 2020
202043A31H
24. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 24. RA(48)
The movements in the Company’s share capital during the RNARM2018F4 A 1HE2020F3 H31
period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020 were as follows: HEAE AR AR Zh N T -

Number of Nominal value

ordinary of ordinary
shares of shares
HK$0.01 each TR
SREE B EE
Notes 0.017& 7T HK$'000
MisE HZBEREE FH&xT
Authorised: VAR ¢
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4 A1H (a) 38,000,000 380
Increase in authorised share JETE R A 20194F
capital on 21 January 2019 182180 (b)(i) 4,962,000,000 49,620
At 31 March 2019, M2019F3H318 *
1 April 2019 201944818
and 31 March 2020 N&202063A31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 April 2018 R2018F4H1H (a) 100 -
Issue of new shares pursuant to  RIZFEAAZEITHL
the Reorganisation (b)(ii) S -
Capitalisation issue of shares 1p & AR 31T (c) 599,999,895 6,000
Issue of new shares BT (d) 200,000,000 2,000
At 31 March 2019, 201943 A31H
1 April 2019 20194 H1H
and 31 March 2020 & 202063A31H 800,000,000 8,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

24. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

25

158

Notes:

(a)

The Company was incorporated on 23 March 2018 with initial authorised share
capital of HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares of a par value of
HK$0.01 each. On the date of incorporation, one subscriber share was allotted
and issued to the nominee subscriber and 99 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
were allotted and issued by the Company on the same date.

(i) On 21 January 2019, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares to
HK$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of
additional 4,962,000,000 shares.

(i) On 21 December 2018, the Company allotted and issued 5 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each to settle the consideration for the acquisition of
the entire issued share capital of subsidiaries now comprising the Group.

Pursuant to the authority given by the resolutions of the then sole shareholder
of the Company on 21 January 2019, an aggregate amount of HK$6,000,000
standing to the credit of the share premium of the Company was approved to
be capitalised and applied in paying in full at par of 599,999,895 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each for allotment and issue on 27 February 2019.

On 26 February 2019, 200,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued
under the share offer in connection with the Listing at an offer price of HK$0.625
per share. Among the proceeds from the issue of new shares, before the listing
expenses of HK$13,833,000, amounted to HK$125,000,000, HK$2,000,000 and
HK$123,000,000 were credited to issued share capital and share premium of
the Company, respectively. Dealings on the Stock Exchange commenced on 27
February 2019.

RESERVES

The

amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein for the current and prior years are presented in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity of the financial

statements.

Merger reserve

The

merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid-

up share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the

Group attributable to the controlling shareholder prior

to the Reorganisation. The additional investment in a
subsidiary represented 90,000 ordinary shares at HK$10
each with a total capital of HK$900,000 issued on 26
October 2018.
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24.

25.

A (42)
Wi

@  AATR2018FIA23A MM - A EEBRA
75380,000/8 7T, - %3 /338,000,000 & % [ {B0.01
%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁxﬂxf o MM B E - — R R
AROEERERBETTRERBA - MRRAE
HXETEOOL%TEE’J‘?‘?HXKEF&EEK AIBC % M B
fe

ﬁA2019¢1ﬁ21E 3B %4,962,000,000
% %8 S0 IR $’AE 3% = R 2 /@
380,000/ JT.( 5 7%38 oowﬁ RIIRE
50,000,000/ 7T.( 5 45,01

(i)  HM2018F12A218 * AR FIE L KT
FARE(E0.014 T ASAR AR - A IR
E%L%H%%EQZZKE BB RN T

(c)  IRIFEAREREEME—RRVAR2019F1 5218 RZE
REBERAE - AR F) B AR 17 % (8 BR 1 42.%86,000,000
BT RBIER T AR - WERAZERIERE
B0.017%8 T BB 599,999,8950% & & AR A% 15 + AR
201942 A27 AR 3 R 31T ©

M2019F2726H - EREFH ETERMDEE -
3%17200,000,000% A% EI{EO0.01/ETL &Y B » 3%
EEAFAR0.62587T ° NHK 513,833,000
VB TC R 2 BAT R AR AT 1S SR IE R 25,000,000;‘% 7L

#12,000,00078 7T }123,000, ooo,% 7L BIE &t A
AR BT IR A R FRAA S (EBR « AR5 A 2019
F2R27T ARG R AEE -

R

AEENAFEERBEFENRFRENIE

BHLERUBHRENGARRBBE
275 -

BOHERE

B PR AEARIERAR R EL B AT
SEETHBARBEBRALE - K
JB R AR HME B $590,000/ & X H B
1078 7o /) E @ AR AR D+ 72018 10AH
26H B 31T E AN 2900,000% 7T ©



26.

27.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

26. AREE

RBEHR - IARRIBRRBEED
SARBEMD

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Performance bonds BRRE & 82,639 24,881

The Group provided unlimited guarantees to certain banks
and an insurance company in respect of performance bonds
of the Group's subsidiaries. Certain of these performance
bonds granted were secured by a time deposit amounting
to HK$16,373,000 (2019: HK$5,000,000) as at 31 March 2020.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

AEBRAEBENBEARBBERELRE
METHRITR —BREBARIRHEE
BRIE(R - )A2020F3 8310 &E T2 5HE
B BHIRBE L H16,373,000% 7T (2019
% :5,000,000/8 ) 2 E BT RIEE
fRe

27. GEREREBRMWEE

(a) MEEFHELENEEED

Interest- Finance

bearing lease

bank payables/lease

borrowing liabilities

EAmE

HERE

FTEBITER S HEAE

HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FTHET

At 31 March 2019 MK201943H31H° 10,000 1,059

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 BRAND B RS 2ER

F16R T E — 898

At 1 April 2019 (restated) MR2019F4 818 (&LE5) 10,000 1,957
Changes from financing cash flows BMEREREEENE (10,161) (3,306)

Interest expense F BRI 161 198

Interest paid classified as operating cash flows PDEAKEREREL

AL - (198)

New leases g = 8,967
Termination of leases MERIE = (516)

At 31 March 2020 7202093 A31H - 7,102
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B ERAR MY AE

31 March 2020
2020%3A31H8

27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

(continued)

27. REREREBRWE(E)

(a) METHELNEERE(E)

Interest-bearing Loan from a Finance
bank borrowing related company lease payables
- b EfmE
SEBTER NAEER REZE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
At 1 April 2018 "2018%4A1H - 8,500 -
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREEANEE 9432 (8,500) (442)
Interest expense MERR 568 = kY]
New finance lease MRENE - - 1,469
At 31 March 2019 2019837318 10,000 - 1,059
Major non-cash transactions b) ETEFRERS
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group (i) @?202})\$3ﬂ 31E M:EJ_ET_’H
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and AEEREERFHHER
lease liabilities of HK$8,967,000 and HK$8,967,000, B o Bl ESBH,OOO}%#T\E K&
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for 8,967,0007 7 &) it FA 1 & &
leased buildings. MHEEREIFRESIAE -
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group @?201‘9\$3ﬂ31 E}ti[‘i
entered into finance lease arrangement in respect ZK%WB*%Eﬁ ETI@%%
of a motor vehicle with a total capital value at the ME G AR E B
inception of the lease of HK$1,469,000. BARMBIER1,469,000 BT °
(i) For the non-cash transactions related to share (i) BEEZE2019F3H31 ElLt%
capital during the year ended 31 March 2019, EE@%K*BE@E’U?F?@@X%%
please refer to note 24. 2B ImR AT 5E24 o
Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEMRSRHAHE

The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

AR RERNAENRSRH
MR

2020
20204
HK$'000
FET

Within operating activities

Within financing activities

RETREN
BE BN

2,862
3,306

6,168
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28. COMMITMENTS

(a)

The Group had the following capital commitments as

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 85 S R B

31 March 2020
2020%3A318

28. EIE
(a) KNEBRBEERE TIIEARA

at the end of the reporting period: ¥
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: BEET4) - BREME -
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment KA - KB RPN R = 1,250

Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019

The Group leased certain of its office properties, a car
park, warehouses and a staff quarter under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties were
negotiated for terms ranging from one to two years.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable

(b) HA2019FE3A31 BEMNEEHRERIE

REEREE E?ﬁﬂﬁ%?
%“*%% =85 - BER
—HEBEES - %%Tﬂ%’]%n SE—
EMFMHEEAE -

EA2019¢3H31E| R & B A
2@ ETEE A& N8R 2 ER

operating leases falling due as follows: ZARKRFIEEESFFIA ¢
2019
20194
HK$'000
FHET
Within one year —&R 2,497
BEIZERBRAR  Fi2019/2020 161
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29.

30.

162

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors of the Company. Details of their remuneration are
disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.

Included in the disclosure of the five highest paid
individuals in note 10, the total salaries, housing allowances,
other allowances and benefits in kind paid to Ms. Lai Yuk
Lin Eliza, the spouse of a director, including the in-kind
housing allowance of HK$1,723,000 (2019: HK$1,686,000) for
the rental payment and outgoings of a director’'s quarter,
which was jointly used by Mr. Tsang Ka Yip and Mr. Tsang
Tsz Kit Jerry.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
assets as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020

Financial assets

29.

30.

BELRZ

AEBTEEEBASHE

AEEETEZEEBABR/ARAESE °
R EF BB R M SRR Y -

HRMF 106 AR RS H A THE
BEERR—RESREBREELLTY
NHFS€ - BEER - AR EEY
B REE  EHRESTEA,723,000
75 7T (20194F : 1,686,000/ 7T ) B & ¥
EEEMAEINEEES(HERE
ARG ERRER)EE LA
io

RESSHNEMTA

R EER RS HREREENT

20204
THEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

RS A

FTEZERmEE

HK$'000

FHET

Trade receivables 2 ZrEYRIE 241,240
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATEFRIE © e RE M EWGRIE

deposits and other receivables WEmEE 32,046

Pledged deposits EHRFER 31,873

Time deposits T BT 3K 105,726

Cash and bank balances & RIRITAEER 35,047

445,932
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 30. REZoWELRTAE)

31.

(continued)
2019

Financial assets

20194

EHEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

Bice: (37D N

TR ERERE

HK$'000

FABT

Trade receivables =70 G 171,536
Financial assets included in prepayments, S ATEFRIE © & K& E At fEWGRIE

deposits and other receivables e MEE 32,395

Pledged deposits ERFR 20,513

Time deposits 7 BiTF 5K 144,888

Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHES 29,423

398,755

All financial liabilities as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are
financial liabilities stated at amortised cost.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, contract assets and trade receivables,
trade and retention payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, an
interest-bearing bank borrowing and lease liabilities (2019:
finance lease payables) approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

31.

BIERERAT

R20204F 201943 A31H * FTE &/l
B B HK AR -

AFE &

EEEDHEREMREFEY A4
BENEZRBEFE  BHRMNFIAR
ENREE  StARNIIE - RERE
KSR S B EE « st ARMEN
FEANREFERANEHBEAE SRR
fERREEEE2019F : EARER
EFR) 2 FERKREEMES T2
FRRRZETARBEREE -

TREENBENRTFENBBR ST
(BB N EERINENR ST X
TAMARZTHEARK e
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32.

164

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include an
interest-bearing bank borrowing, lease liabilities (2019:
finance lease payables), deposits, trade and other
receivables, trade and other payables and bank balances.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes to the financial statements.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.
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2. B EREEBFERBER

AEETECRIABENRRITE
o HEREQOIF : ENREEE
) RE - EHRKFAREME
WHKIR - B 5 RN 3R R E B 508
KIR1THESR - R E 2R T AMFIENE
BMRARBEE P IR EE -

[

AEBSMTAEANTERRAREE
FEfgRnsEeREk - EE2EMILMA
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to contract
assets and trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged
deposits, time deposits and cash and bank balances. The
Group’s maximum credit risk exposure at the end of the
reporting period in the event of other parties failing to
perform their obligations is represented by the carrying
amount of each financial asset as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Management monitors the creditworthiness and payment
patterns of each debtor closely and on an ongoing basis.
The Group's trade receivables from contract work represent
interim billings or retentions certified by the customers
under terms as stipulated in the contracts. As the Group's
customers in respect of contract work primarily consist of
main contractors in the construction industry, property
developers or owners with strong financial backgrounds,
management considers that the risk of irrecoverable
receivables from contract work is not significant.

The following table demonstrates the concentrations of
credit risk of the total contract assets and trade receivables
which were due from the Group’s largest external
customer and the Group's five largest external customers,
respectively.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2020
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2. UBEMEEEBEREE(E)

SEER

AEEEERREIERANGHNEER
BHREFIR - sTATRNFIR - BE2 K
Hit BURIEN SR EE - TR
EERLIRE RIRTTHE - WMEMT
REEBITEE - AERERIRE HRFA
EHRAEERBRIESBNER S M B
MERNETREERAE °

ERETYERBERSBEHRAGER
MRERN - AEEE 5 RKE K TIER
RIERPRIES WRTRIRKRE P HN
RHFREE - ARAEEESH TR
BEFIZ2HEEXAAER  HEZRE
BRPBEERBANEIER  BEE
RASFEI A 4 T2 F IR ] Y5 a7 L
WAERK °

TR BIBTEBRAEEZRAIMNEEP
EARSERARINIEFPENEERES
YRR EE ST RER

Percentage of total contract assets and KRB TEHNEERE S
JEMHRIRAFE B DL -
REBEZRIMNBRP
Group's five largest external customers ZA&EE R ARINBEF

trade receivables due from:

Group's largest external customer

2020 2019
20204 20194F
50.7% 39.5%
79.7% 73.9%

BIERERAT
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32.

166

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from contract assets and
trade receivables are disclosed in note 16 to the financial
statements.

The Group has applied the simplified approach to
providing for impairment for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS
9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for impairment of all contract assets and trade
receivables. To measure the ECLs, contract assets and
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The ECLs
also incorporate forward-looking information. Given that
the customers of the Group are mainly well-known property
developers, the Government and quasi-Government
organisations and there was no history of default in prior
years, the directors of the Company considered the default
rate of financial assets is minimal.

The other receivables represented loans to subcontractors.
The impairment provision for other receivables during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 was limited
to 12-month ECLs. Since they were considered to be of
low credit risk, management considered no provision for
impairment of other receivables was necessary for the years
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

All of the current portions of the other receivable balances
are expected to be recovered within one year.
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2. BEMEEEBEREE(E)

SRRk (E)

ERAAEBTASINANEERESE
WHIEELENEERKRE — T2/ E8UE
R B R M 16H 55 -

AEBRABIDERBTEVBRE
ERFRRENFAMEEBBRER
B ABIETEAFEBERNEER
B 5 RUSIRREE Bk T FHAME
BEE - RETERIEEEE  A0E
EXREHREFIADRBEAREERR
FRNBHREmES - BEMEEER
NEARBEEER - ERAEENEP
ETRAAAMERRRE - BUTEM R
BE#E AR BEFEMERZNT
% ARARESRATRMEEMNENE
RIE -

HaEWRIBE AR D BEER o HAE
U SR I8 R B 7 8 PR L 2 20204F %2019
FIANALEFERRI2EAEHREE
BB - ARZERBEERAEEFESE
ERK - BEERE  HZE20205F K
20193 A31H L FEMmAH H A EU
RIBIERERME -

BHIR A B e RGBSR &
R—FARUE -



32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to monitor regularly the current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. In addition,
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency
purposes.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities as at the end of the reporting period of the
Group's financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates, or if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
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32. MEEAREEREBRRBE(E)

RBE @R

REBBRZTE RERER LIBHR
BHES BN BREEFTEEREHE
AAETETREBALNEEESHE
B AmRERRERARBESEL -
AN ERERITREFRSZA

TRAVNAEES R AERHREHRR
BANATRREARE(BREERAEH
BRFEMOFEFR  KMBEZE - Al
RIEREPREFHNEGFE)FFEAR
HRAEWBHAARAREE L AEERN
RFEHEH:

NS

earliest date that the Group could be required to repay:

2020 20204
In the
Within one In the third to
year or on second fifth years,
demand year inclusive Total
B=FZFE
—FAR EHE
BRER E—_F (REEWHF) CHl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FE T FHET FHERT FHERT
Trade and retention payables B S ENHIE R
N RE 168,255 12,040 3,784 184,079
Other payables and accruals H A PR FRIE R
fEstE M 70,325 - - 70,325
Lease liabilities HEaE 5,158 2,140 = 7,298
243,738 14,180 3,784 261,702
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32.

168

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 32.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

MHEAREEBRRBE(E)

RBESRR(E)

2019 20194
In the
Within one In the third to
year or on second  fifth years,
demand year inclusive Total
E=FZF
—F A ERF
RER BE-F (FEEWF) &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT T T THETT
Trade and retention payables Z S RENFIER
FENRE S 94,938 23,957 - 118,895
Other payables and accruals H At fE T FRIE &2
FEstE A 38,074 - - 38,074
Interest-bearing bank borrowing & BRI T{EHK 10,026 - - 10,026
Finance lease payables AR ERENRIE 490 490 122 1,102
143,528 24,447 122 168,097

As at 31 March 2019, the bank loan had a repayment on
demand clause on original repayment schedule. According
to the original repayment schedule, the repayment date of
the interest-bearing bank borrowing was within 6 months
from the year end. Based on the Group's financial position,
management did not consider that it was probable that the
bank would exercise its discretion to demand immediate
repayment. Management believed such bank loan would be
repaid in accordance with the repayment schedule.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Group's capital management
policy is to ensure that the Group will be able to continue
as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance.

The Group reviews the capital structure on a periodical
basis. As part of this review, the Group considers the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital
and will balance the Group’s overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as raising new debts or
repayment of existing debts. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio,
which is net debt divided by equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Net debt includes an interest-
bearing bank borrowing and lease liabilities, less cash
and bank balances and time deposits. The Group’s policy
is to maintain a stable debt-to-equity ratio. The debt-to-
equity ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. UBEMEEEBEREE(E)

EXEE

AEEEAERUENEE B 550
BB R RETE - REA
EEABEEL - DABHEFERA
EER

AEETHERELERE - (EREHD
— 80 AEBEEREAKANZES
BARNERRERE - WEBBikETR
EETENEERGEH FALAKEE
RENER AKETZIMINEBIE
ME)E AR RSKATR ) o B 220205 I
2019F3A3MRIEFE - EBEARMAE
% BREGEREMELZS

REEFAER RS R ETEA - &
i a5 L % A ERF B AR A Al 24
A AR TIR N o EEERRE
B RITIE R R A AR S RIRAT
BT EE - AEBMBUE AR
EHERLFEE - WSRO EBE
HHEmMT

2020 2019

20204 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Interest-bearing bank borrowing T RBRITER - 10,000

Lease liabilities HEAE 7,102 =
Less: Cash and bank balances B RE RIBITAR KR

and time deposits TEHTFR (140,773) (174,311)

Net debt B FE (133,671) (164,311)

Equity attributable to equity holders RATERFFEA
of the Company e R 277,969 238,676
Debt-to-equity B b X N/A TEA N/A TiER

BIERERAT
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. KA TN BRRE
COMPANY

BRAAR RN E HIRAO BRI R

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BRI
2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary RHT B A R E = =
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and A FRIE ~ R R E A ERGRIE
other receivables 210 97
Due from a subsidiary JRE M — R Bt /a8 22 R RIE 7,626 =
Time deposits T BT K 76,800 116,825
Cash and bank balances & RIRTTEHERR 727 275
Total current assets MENBERTE 85,363 117,197
CURRENT LIABILITY REEE
Due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE = 19,466
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFH 85,363 97,731
Net assets BEFE 85,363 97,731
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITRAR 8,000 8,000
Reserves (Note) & (Mat) 77,363 89,731
Total equity 1EREES 85,363 97,731

i Less than HK$500
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. QRN RRAFT(E)
COMPANY (continued)

Note: Btz -
A summary of the Company'’s reserves is as follows: RAREBRENT -
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
BRADEE RitEE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FHET
At 23 March 2018 (date of incorporation), 31 March 2018438238 ( & it pk i A
2018 and 1 April 2018 H3) - 201843 A31H &20184
4A1H = = =
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FEBEREEY B - (13,436) (13,436)
Capitalisation issue of shares BB EAREEST (6,000) - (6,000)
Issue of new shares BATRIA 123,000 - 123,000
Share issue expenses A1) 8 1TF X (13,833) = (13,833)
At 31 March 2019 and M201943A31H &

1 April 2019 2019418 103,167 (13,436) 89,731
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FEBEREES LB = (1,168) (1,168)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of the Company BERNARARRRZRE (11,200) = (11,200)
At 31 March 2020 202043 A31H 91,967 (14,604) 77,363

34. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 34. HEEMB®E
The financial statements were approved and authorised for M mARDN2020F6 248 EEEE
issue by the board of directors on 24 June 2020. HEE R RT3 -

BIZRERDT  F#2019/2020 171



IW// FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BT

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for each of the last five financial years is set out below:

Results for the year ended 31 March

AEBBERETRFETFHER
ERBEHEHINWT

BIANE

BE3ANHLFENESE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
2020% 20194 20184 20174 20164
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT FAT FHETT FAT
Revenue & 1,204,001 980,589 980,828 722,075 422,319
Cost of sales SHERK AN (1,099,388) (890,081) (903,536) (665,747) (379,764)
Gross profit EM 104,613 90,508 77,292 56,328 42,555
Other income and gains E AU A R Wz 6,676 4,091 5,849 6,926 5,014
Loss on disposal of other S IR S AR
financial assets at amortised  FFEZHfM&
cost A E BB = = (317) - -
Administrative expenses and 1T R E M
other operating expenses LIEMRY (50,579) (47,365) (32,277) (24,628) (23,473)
Finance costs EUR AN (359) (600) (244) (512) (383)
Profit before tax BR 5 At 7 60,351 46,634 50,303 38,114 23,713
Income tax FR1S %t (9,855) (9,4006) (8,896) (6,296) (3,505)
Profit and total comprehensive A& Fl &% 2 H
income for the year LONES] 50,496 37,228 41,407 31,818 20,208
As at 31 March
MW3A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184F 20174 2016%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FETT FBT FHET FET
Total assets REE 575,034 501,078 337,732 376,749 211,532
Total liabilities warsE (297,065) (262,402) (197,457) (277,8795) (144,476)
Total equity miE 277,969 238,676 140,281 98,874 67,056
172 WECON HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2019/2020
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